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Grupo Famsa is a leading Mexican company in the re-
tail sector, with more than 45 years of experience in 
the market, and focusing its efforts on satisfying fami-
lies´ diverse consumption, financing and saving needs 
through a comprehensive and flexible platform, com-
posed of three business units.

FAMSA MéxiCO, responsible for operating 380 retail stores in Mexico and focu-
sed on providing consumer goods to the Mexican population.

BANCO FAMSA, established in 2007, provides a complementary portfolio of sa-
vings and credit services to retail customers in 452 branches, as well as microcredit 
and financing to small and medium-sized enterprises.

FAMSA USA, operates a network of 26 retail stores and 28 branches that offer 
personal loans in the United States, attending to the growing hispanic community.

ViSiON
To enhance our leaders-
hip in the retail commer-
cialization of durable and 
personal goods, and spe-
cialized financial services 
in Mexico and the Hispa-
nic segment in the USA.

MiSiiON
To be the best option 
for our clients in the re-
tail commercialization 
of durable and personal 
goods, and specialized fi-
nancial services fitting all 
our clients’ needs. To as-
sure that our stockholders 
receive expected yields.

VAlUES
The values that distin-
guish us in the market 
and are an integral part 
of our company’s activi-
ties are: simplicity, busi-
ness sense, commitment, 
a customer focus, quality 
and trust.   

CORPORATE PROFilE
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Strong market position in the 
retail sector in Mexico.

Highly expandable and flexible 
business platform.

Extensive experience in retail 
sales and consumer funding.

Advanced IT and Custom-
engineered technology.

Experienced management 
team with extensive technical 
capacity.

Highly trained and motivated 
human resources.

-

-

-

-

-

-

The success of Grupo FAMSA’s 
operations is attributed to its strong 
brand awareness and commercial 

The commitment and dedication 
of Grupo FAMSA has been and will 
continue to delivering high quality 
products and services at competitive 
terms towards an efficient and 
profitable operation.

FiNANCiAl HiGHliGHTS
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201420152016

Stores
  Mexico
  United States

Banco Famsa
  Banking Branches
  To be Convertible Branches

Employees
  Mexico
  United States

9.5%
9.2%

11.8%
8.3%
8.2%

10.8%

-15.5%

-11.6%

131.9%

Operating Results
  Net Sales (a)
  Mexico
  Unites States
  Other (b)
  Intercompany

Gross Profit

EBITDA (c)

Operating Profit

Net Income

Gross Margin
EBTIDA Margin
Net Margin

$17,544
$15,157
$2,265
$1,020
-$898

$7,819

$1,411

$994

$346

44.6%
8.0%
2.0%

$16,022
$13,884
$2,027

$941
-$830

$7,055

$1,670

$1,124

$149

44.0%
10.4%
0.9%

$14,856
$13,008
$1,749

$802
-$702

$6,791

$1,442

$1,023

$371

45.7%
9.7%
2.5%

(a)     Includes Banco Famsa.
(b)     Intercompany Sales.
(c)     EBITDA = Operating profit + Depreciation + Amortization

VariaTiON
2015 Vs 2016

Assets
Liabilities
Stockholders´equity

$42,490
$34,175
$8,315

406
380
26

452
399
53

17,667
17,039

628

403
377
26

488
400
88

19,117
18.396

721

395
370
25

503
401
102

16,856
16,204

652

0.7%
0.8%
0.0%

-7.4%
-0.2%

-39.8%

-7.6%
-7.4%

-12.9%

$38,361
$30,728
$7,633

$35,168
$24,827
$10,341

10.8%
11.2%
8.9%

Financial Position

Other Operating Data
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TO OUR STOCKHOlDERS:
In a complex and challenging environment across 
the markets it serves, Grupo FAMSA reiterated its 
determination to continue perfecting its business 
model, generating value for its customers, 
employees, community and stockholders.

In 2016, the Company’s Consolidated Net Sales 
grew 9.5% year-over-year, to $17,544 million 
pesos. The result was driven to a greater extent 
by its operations in Mexico, highlighting the 
dynamism in sales of various categories of durable 
goods, such as Mobile Phones, Electronics and 
Appliances. 

In Banco FAMSA improved the risk profile of its 
credit portfolio, with a growth in the consolidated 
participation of clients belonging to the formal 
sector of the economy, increased from 54.7% as 
of year-end 2015 to 61.0% as of December 31, 
2016. 

As a result of this portfolio improvement and 
the reinforcement in collection activities, Banco 
FAMSA’s Non-performing Loans Ratio (IMOR) 
was 8.5% as of December 31, 2016, 130 basis 
points below that of 2015. 

Bank Deposits reached $21,063 million pesos, 
14.7% above the previous year, of which, 89.0% 
are term deposits.

With regard to Grupo FAMSA’s furniture and 
financial services business in the United States, 
the weak consumer environment resulting from 
the uncertainty facing the company’s target 
customers was offset by the strength of the 
dollar. At the end of 2016, FAMSA USA posted 
an increase in annual Net Sales in MXP of 11.8% 
year-over-year. fue 14.7% superior al año anterior, 

In addition, Grupo FAMSA´s accompanied a 
series of actions undertaken by the company’s 
leadership to guarantee liquidity in face of the 
2015 reclassification of accounts receivable. The 
Company endorsed its continued compliance 
in the best interest of its investors, with the 
support of its main stockholder, Don Humberto 
Garza González, who guaranteed the accounts 
receivable with the properties of his real-estate 
companies. 

As a result, in January 2017, Grupo FAMSA 
and Don Humberto Garza González defined 
the optimal structure for amortize the accounts 
receivable guaranteed in December 2015. The 
process for the implementation of this structure 
was finished during April 2017, before the 
originally established term limit of 2017.

Moreover, during 2016 Grupo FAMSA made 
diverse changes to its Corporate Government 
and internal control processes, seeking to align 
them as closely as possible to the corresponding 
best practices.

At the General Extraordinary Shareholder´s 
Assembly of October 2016, Roberto Gutiérrez 
García was appointed as an independent 
member of the Board of Directors and Chairman 
of the Audit Committees of Grupo FAMSA and 
of Banco FAMSA. With extensive experience 
in internal auditing and financial and credit 
risk management, Mr. Gutiérrez García will 
reinforce the internal control mechanisms of both 
companies to provide investors greater certainty.

Additionally, Mr. Jorge Luis Ramos Santos 
was appointed Chairman of Grupo FAMSA’s 
Corporate Practices Committee. Likewise, Mr. 
José Luis Ochoa Bautista was designated as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banco 
FAMSA.
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HumberTO Garza GONzález
Chairman of the Board

HumberTO Garza Valdéz
Chief Executive Office
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With the reliance that the actions taken in 2016 
underscore the Company’s vocation to ensure 
profitability and continuous improvement, 
we would like to express our gratitude to our 
customers, both in Mexico and the United States, 
for their trust and preference.

We would also like to thank our Board of Directors 
for their leadership and vision. Their guidance 
and support during the year led the Company to 
the positive results that we are presented here.

In particular, we would like to recognize the 
commitment of Don Humberto Garza González. 
His support was key for the liquidity of our business 
and providing certainty for our stockholders.

To our investors of Grupo FAMSA, we would like 
to reiterate the determination of our management 
team and associates to continue improving the 
Company’s performance.

In 2017, we will focus our efforts on enhancing 
the effectiveness of our operating and business 
structure, in order to grow the Company’s 
profitability and generation of operating cash 
flow.

During the current year we will pursue an 
administration focused on the care of its 
resources, accompanied by a greater efficiency in 
its structure, which will allow it to guarantee the 
solidity of its financial position statement and a 
greater ability to generate cash flow.

Likewise, in follow of a discretionary investment 
approach and the current environment of 
economic uncertainty, Grupo FAMSA does not 
anticipate any new opening in its current store-
network, seeking to maximize the efficiency of its 
current network.

We are sure that, with the strength of our business 
model and winning strategy, we will be able to 
face all current and future challenges. 
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Our business model is focused on the creation of value to our 
customers, through detonation and taking advantage of syner-
gies between our business units.

We are dedicated to providing a comprehensive value offer in con-
sumption, financing and savings needs through the close interac-
tion and synergies between FAMSA Mexico and FAMSA USA.

BANCO
FAMSA

 FAMSA
USA

FAMSA
MEXICO

FAMSA Mexico - Banco FAMSA
- Broad store network and high score traffic
- Active credit customer base
- Brand recognition

FAMSA Mexico - FAMSA USA
- Brand recognition
- Successful business model
- Infrastructure for Famsa-to-Famsa

Banco FAMSA - FAMSA Mexico
- Credit availabilitys
- Banking service offering for customers

Banco FAMSA - FAMSA USA
- Banking service offering for people
   who receive remittances

FAMSA USA - FAMSA Mexico
- FAMSA to FAMSA sales volume

FAMSA USA - Banco FAMSA
- Remittance dispatch
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STRENGTHENiNG 
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Grupo FAMSA reinforced its determination to continue 
developing its competitive advantages, emerging even 
stronger despite the difficult market conditions.

09

Consolidated Net Sales rose 9.5% year-over-year.

In 2016, Grupo FAMSA faced a challenging economic en-
vironment, characterized by uncertainty resulting from the 
political changes in the United States, the volatility in the 
exchange rate between the Mexican peso and the U.S. do-
llar, higher energy prices and inflationary pressures on a 
global level. These adverse economic conditions affected 
consumption levels in our neighbouring country and the 
commercial sector in Mexico.

In this context, the Company endorsed its trajectory of al-
most half a century in the Mexican retail industry fulfilling 
the dual objectives of driving the economy of the nation’s 
working families and consistently generating value for the 
Company’s investors.

In 2016, in accordance with its commitment to responsibly 
manage resources, Grupo FAMSA reinforced its determi-
nation to continue developing its competitive advantages, 
emerging even stronger despite the difficult market con-
ditions.

With the solid support of its main stockholder, in 2016 
Grupo FAMSA implemented a series of transformations to 
reinforce its operating platform in order to maintain and 
enhance its market leadership in Furniture, Appliances and 
Banking Services.
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10.3%
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CONSOLIDATED NET SALES BY PRODUCT MIX
3.4%

5.4%

10.4%

11.6%

13.0%

15.9%

23.4%

16.9%

OTHERS

COMPUTERS

MOTORCYCLES

MOBILE PHONES

ELECTRONICS

APPLIANCES

FURNITURE

PRESONAL LOANS
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Thanks to the professionalism of its associates, Grupo FAMSA 
achieve a dynamic level of sales, recording an increase in Conso-
lidated Net Sales for the year. This expansion, combined with the 
responsible management of costs and expenses, positioned the 
Company to leverage its competitive advantages.

Grupo FAMSA’s 2016 Consolidated Net Sales rose 9.5% year-over-
year, to $17,544 million pesos. The operations in Mexico recor-
ded a particularly outstanding year-over-year growth in Net Sa-
les of 9.9%, largely driven by Personal Loan origination and the 
marketing of durable goods such as Mobile Phones, Electronics, 
Appliances and Seasonal Goods.

The floor space of the retail area in Mexico increased with the ope-
ning of three new stores during the year, bringing the total to 380, 
with a total sales floor of 452,294 square meters. With regard to 
the space dedicated to banking operations, Banco FAMSA bran-
ches totaled 399 as of year-end 2016, and with 53 non-banking 
branches after the decision to close 35 of such business units du-
ring the third quarter of 2016, compared to 88 that had at the 
beginning of the year.

During 2016, the main strategy to drive operating indicators in 
Mexico was to focus on growing the origination of higher payroll 
credits and the participation of more clients from the formal sector 

Personal Loans, Mobile Phones, and Appliances were the 
principal drivers of the net sales of FAMSA MEXICO
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of the economy. Both actions make the Company’s loan portfolio 
more resistant to adverse economic cycles and mitigate the credit 
risk.

As a result, payroll credits represented 29.5% of Grupo FAMSA’s 
consolidated accounts receivable as of December 31, 2016, 710 
basis points above the 22.4% reached at the close of 2015. Fur-
thermore the consolidated client´s participation from the formal 
sector of the economy increased from 54.7% at the end of 2015 to 
61.0% as of December 31, 2016.

Moreover, Grupo FAMSA continued to center its commercial port-
folio on productive loans, which totaled $3,691 million pesos as of 
year-end 2016. Loans to MySMEs (Micro, Small and Medium-sized 
Enterprises) represented 14.3% of the Company’s consolidated 
credit portfolio and also contributed to diversifying the credit risk.

Because of the changes in client’s profile, the enhancement of the 
internal control mechanisms for credit origination and the efforts 
to make collection more agile, Banco FAMSA’s Non-performing 
Loans Ratio (NPL) declined in 2016, to 8.5% at the close of the 
year, compared to 9.8% in 2015. 

Focus on growing the origination of higher payroll credits and 
the participation of more clients from the formal sector of the 
economy.

8.5%

2014 2015 2016

14.2%

9.8%

BanCO faMSa

npl
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Additionally, throughout 2016 Grupo FAMSA’s management team 
focused on preserving the Company’s book value, thus giving conti-
nuity to the guarantee of the provisions for the accounts receivable 
that resulted from the accounting reclassification in 2015.

Therefore, Grupo FAMSA determined the optimal structure to en-
sure that the accounts receivable guaranteed by Mr. Garza Gonzá-
lez and his real estate companies will be amortized. The implemen-
tation process of said structure will be duly completed before the 
established term limit of June 2017.

The constitution of the Guarantee Management and Payment Sour-
ce Trust (MPST), which will be established by the real estate compa-
nies of Mr. Garza González, towards a cession of rights, to properly 
contribute the collection of future incomes from the leases of cer-
tain properties until the account receivable be settled in its entirety. 
The beneficiary in first position of the MPST will be FAMSA Mexico. 
Consequently, the account receivable from related parties in Gru-
po FAMSA’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position will be 
amortized in line with the disbursement of leases. Additionally, the 
aforementioned real estate companies will jointly contribute real es-
tate properties  whose value will add to the guaranteed amount of 
collection rights, and whose primary beneficiary will also be FAMSA 
Mexico. 

Approach to value generation
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During 2016, the vocation of Grupo FAMSA, its main stockholder and 
Management remained focused on generating value, through respon-
sible actions, administrative efficiency and a long-term vision. All of 
this underscores the quality of the Company as an attractive inves-
tment alternative, today with a strengthened structure that will enable 
it to face the challenges of the coming years and satisfy the dynamic 
needs of its customers and the markets it serves.
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ENHANCiNG 
PROFiTABiliTY
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Strategies to enhance profitability and improve 
its offer of products and financial services.

Grupo FAMSA is determined to satisfy the dynamic needs of its consumers, 
so in 2016 it implemented strategies to enhance profitability and improve its 
offer of products and financial services. These initiatives produced positive 
results and sales in line with 2016 sales Guidance.

The 9.5% growth in consolidated net sales is just one outstanding reflection 
of the Company’s efforts to improve its performance, even in challenging en-
vironments, through customer loyalty, and the implementation of successful 
and continuous advertising campaigns and discounts.

On a consolidated level, annual EBITDA reached $1,411 million pesos in 
2016. EBITDA growth was limited during the year, mainly due to the natural 
gap between the expenses applies to the credit portfolio origination, the 
recognition of the income of payroll credits. Additionally an allowance for 
doubtful accounts was recorded during 4Q16 as result of the adjustments 
made by the Company’s Management carried out certain adjustments to 
its reserve estimation methodology, seeking to be more conservative in its 
recovery criteria.

During 2016, Grupo FAMSA sought to lower operating expenses and en-
hance sales-floor efficiency, without affecting quality and customer service. 
Consequently, Management reduced staff positions by 1,864, resulting in a 
7.6% decline in the total number of employees. This action generated non-
recurring expenses for severance payments in the second and third quarters 
of the year. Additionally, the Company selectively closed 35 non-banking 
branches which did not meet profitability and annual sales growth criteria.

Despite the impact of these initiatives on the Company’s 2016 consolidated 
EBITDA, their implementation will benefit Grupo FAMSA in the short term, 
giving it a more profitable operating and business structure. In 2017, the 
impact should have dissipated, giving rise to estimated savings in adminis-
trative expenses of $240 million pesos.
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FAMSA is better positioned to face new
and greater challenges.

Consolidated Net Income grew from $149 million 
pesos in 2015 to $346 million pesos in 2016, reflec-
ting interest earned during the year as a result of the 
updating in the present value of the collection rights 
with related parties (recorded in December 2015) and 
a higher deferred asset tax compared to the previous 
year.

The consolidated results posted for 2016 reflect Gru-
po FAMSA’s solid operating practices, with customer 
loyalty and product demand, largely in Mexico, pla-
ying a key role.

As far as operations in Mexico are concerned, the 
Furniture and Appliance marketing business consoli-
dated its industry leadership during the year, growing 
Net Sales by 9.2% to a total of $15,157 million pesos, 
compared to $13,884 million pesos in 2015.

FAMSA Mexico’s sales growth was largely driven by 
the categories of Mobile Phones, Electronics and 
Appliances, as well as the leveraging of Seasonal 
campaigns, both in summer and at Christmas.

The implementation of promotions and advertising 
campaigns such as “Mucha Madre” (Lots of Mother) 
and “Puntos para Papá” (Points for Daddy), combi-
ned with the incorporation of Apple products into the 
Company’s portfolio of Mobile Phones, also drove 
the growth of these categories.

“46 Aniversario” (46th Anniversary) was among the 
year’s most successful campaign, designed to increa-
se sales through attractive promotions.

The FAMSA online store also had a successful year, 
with transactions growing 23% and more than 11 mi-
llion visits, consolidating this channel as a value-crea-
ting platform of increasing relevance for the Com-
pany. The online segment posted total sales of $145 
million pesos in 2016, a growth of 5.5% compared to 
the 2015 sales of $137 million pesos. 

According to studies carried out by different entities, such as 
Asociación Mexicana de Internet AC, E-commerce in Mexico 
has been growing rapidly. This trend could significantly increa-
se the sales of Grupo FAMSA’s online store over the coming 
years. 

Banco FAMSA also drove consolidated results, mainly because 
of the decline in the Non-Performing Loans Ratio to 8.5%, 130 
basis points below that of 2015. This reduction clearly demons-
trates that the client profile of the bank’s loan portfolio is now 
more attractive, reflecting the increased consolidated partici-
pation of clients belonging to the formal economy. 
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nET SalES
MILLION PESOS

Bank dEpOSiTS

MILLION PESOS

nET SalES (MXp)

MILLION PESOS

Moreover, the average cost of funding as of year-end 2016 was 4.5%, 
having grown less than the TIIE (Mexican reference rate) during the year.

At the close of 2016, Bank Deposits provided 67.8% of Grupo FAMSA’s 
source of funding. Interest to Bank Depositors recorded $844 million  
pesos, 23.2% higher the previous year given the higher balance of de-
posits received and the increase in the cost of funding.

Meanwhile, FAMSA USA’s operations during the second half of the year 
were complicated due to the election campaigns and an expectation of 
uncertainty among the business unit’s target market for sales, to which 
FAMSA USA directed its advertising and marketing efforts. Conse-
quently, it implemented specific initiatives to expand its customer base 
and drive consumption. Combined with the appreciation of the U.S. 
dollar vis-à-vis the Mexican peso, this resulted in an 11.8% year-over-
year increase in Net Sales. 

Accumulated 2016 EBITDA in pesos for FAMSA USA was $297 million 
pesos as of December 31st, 2016, contributing to the consolidated re-
sult.

During 2016, the initiatives that the Grupo FAMSA team implemented 
enhanced the business’s profitability through operating efficiencies and 
reaffirmed its competitive position, producing results above the indus-
try average.

Thus, despite the difficult economic panorama and dynamic consumer 
evolution, today Grupo FAMSA is better positioned to face new and 
greater challenges in 2017 and is fully committed to leveraging the 
2016 results.

FAMSA MÉXICO

FAMSA USA

BANCO FAMSA
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CUlTURE OF RiSK PREVENTiON
Grupo FAMSA offers safe workplaces that helps associates to ca-
rry out their professional activities effectively and protects the in-
tegrity of consumers and suppliers, as well as those who visit its 
facilities, surrounding its local communities and its assets. All of 
this is a strategic priority which can be clearly manifested in the 
Company’s continuous risk evaluation and mitigation, training and 
solid culture of prevention.
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With a long track record of social solidarity and responsibi-
lity values, in 2016 Grupo FAMSA continued implementing 
initiatives to promote the safety, development and overall 
wellbeing of its associates, reiterating the organization’s 
commitment to them. The Company also continued its 
efforts to involve its customers to support institutions that 
seek to help the less fortunate people. 
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Safe workplaces that 
helps associates to carry 

out their professional 
activities effectively

and protects the integrity
of consumers and 

suppliers.

132,976 man-hours
of training during 2016

19

In 2016, Grupo FAMSA continued to enhan-
ce the Risk Prevention Program that has been 
in place since 2013. This program establishes 
standardized safety and contingency respon-
se protocols, a culture of prevention across 
the Company’s work centers and business 
units, and also first response, and search and 
rescue brigades.

During 2016, 514 preventive visits were 
made to Grupo FAMSA’s branches and offi-
ces to inspect and guarantee the correct 
functioning of all the equipment and installa-
tions needed for avoiding and responding to 
contingencies, as well as to detect any situa-
tions of risk or danger in advance.

In addition, Risk Committees were set up 
and upgraded at 401 work centers, excee-
ding the goal of 387 planned for 2016. These 
Committees are made up of operations and 
administrative managers, HR leaders, area 
coordinators and members of the Internal 
Support Brigades.

In parallel, 401 Internal Support Brigades 
were formed. These brigades are made up of 
teams of associates from each store, branch 
and office. They organize, disseminate and 
execute preventive actions, and are ready for 
any contingency. During the year, they took 
part in 536 evacuation simulations.

PERSONNEl TRAiNiNG AND 
DEVElOPMENT
Grupo FAMSA not only supports the growth of its associates’ tech-
nical capabilities to improve their workplace performance, but also 
includes training programs in areas related to their personal deve-
lopment. These efforts represent another pillar to drive the compre-
hensive growth of the Grupo FAMSA team.

In 2016, a total of 132,976 man-hours of training were provided 
for approximately 6,000 employees (1/3 of the total Grupo FAMSA 
workforce), both in Mexico and the United States. Courses offered 
covered topics such as technical training, general knowledge and 
individual skills.

It is important to highlight the impartation of 9,588 man-hours of 
training in preventing money laundering and the Code of Conduct 
for bank personnel, 70% more than in 2015. This important effort 
is evidence of the institution’s commitment to excellence and the 
execution of best banking practices.
Community support

With regard to community support programs, during the year di-
verse donation campaigns were launched through Banco FAMSA’s 
ATM machines. Thus, in partnership with its customers, Grupo FAM-
SA was able to support different charity institutions, such as Hogar 
de la Misericordia, the Mexican Red Cross and the  “Bécalos” Scho-
larship Program. The latter initiative was carried out in conjunction 
with the Mexican Banking Association and the Televisa Foundation 
to provide support for low-income students. 

In a year characterized by complex economic conditions across Gru-
po FAMSA’s markets, the Company reiterated its commitment to 
society in partnership with its customers and different institutions, 
promoted the contribution of its associates to the environment, and 
enhanced the safety of its facilities for the benefit of employees, 
customers and the general public.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The solid support of Grupo FAMSA’s Board 
of Directors to guarantee the rights of its 
stockholders has been, without doubt, one 
of the basic pillars for the Company’s growth 
during its 46 years of offering, to consumers 
in Mexico and the United States, financing al-
ternatives to acquire consumer goods.

In accordance with the highest principles of 
ethics and transparency, the Board of Direc-
tors defines the Company’s general strategy 
and supervises its performance. It also ensu-
res that the actions of Grupo FAMSA’s exe-
cutives and the decisions that the Company 
makes are based on the best interests of its 
stockholders, in accordance with its Mission, 
Vision and Values, monitoring the approval 
of related party transactions and any other 
operations that might digress from the busi-
ness objectives.

In 2016, with the leadership of Grupo 
FAMSA’s founder and majority stockhol-
der, Don Humberto Garza González, and 
management’s support, the Company took 
determining steps to strengthen its Corpo-
rate Governance, incorporating experienced 
professionals with a solid reputation into the 
Boards of Directors of Grupo FAMSA and 
Banco FAMSA.

With the objective of safeguarding the inter-
ests of the investors, Grupo FAMSA’s General 
Extraordinary Stockholders’ Assembly of Oc-
tober 10th, 2016 approved the reinforcing of 
the Board of Directors with the incorporation 
of Mr. Roberto Gutiérrez García. Mr. Gutié-
rrez García, an expert in internal auditing and 
financial and credit risk management, was 
appointed as an independent board mem-
ber and Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
while board member Mr. Jorge Luis Ramos 
Santos was named Chairman of the Corpora-
te Practices Committee. 

Likewise, Banco FAMSA strengthened its 
Board of Directors during 2016, with the de-
signation of Mr. José Luis Ochoa Bautista as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, and the 
incorporation of Mr. Roberto Gutiérrez Gar-
cía as an independent board member and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Additionally, to assure the highest possible 
compliance with financial reporting stan-
dards, the prestigious international firm 
KPMG Cárdenas Dosal, S.C. was recruited as 
the External Auditor of Grupo FAMSA and of 
Banco FAMSA, in substitution of Pricewater-
houseCoopers, S.C.

These resolutions, in set of best financing 
practices and the adoption of external and 
internal auditing practices, are part of a se-
ries of strategic actions aimed to strength 
Grupo FAMSA’s corporate structure, thereby 
seeking to preserve the best interests for 
the stockholders, as well as to reinforce the 
Company’s control and decision-making pro-
cesses.

The Board of Directors and its different com-
mittees work together in compliance with 
the Mexican Stock Market Law and backed 
up with the “Code of Best Corporate Prac-
tices” recommended by the Mexican Stock 
Exchange and National Banking and Securi-
ties Commission.

Accordingly, Grupo FAMSA has Audit and 
Corporate Practices Committees integrated 
exclusively by Independent Board Members, 
two of whom are financial experts.

The strength of an organization is defined by the vision, responsibility and commitment of its 
leadership which, within a framework of ethics and transparency, give the certainty and stability 
necessary at times of difficulty, and the confidence and momentum required for growth.
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Thanks to its leadership, solid experience, inte-
grity and proven execution capabilities, Grupo 
FAMSA’s Management Team has performing 
consistent results throughout its history. The 
committed group of professionals who lead the 

company are:

HumberTO Garza Valdéz
Chief Executive Officer

Oziel mariO Garza Valdéz
Vice President of Clothing and Real State

luis GerardO Villarreal rOsales
Chief Operating Officer

abelardO García lOzaNO
Chief Financial Officer

HécTOr Padilla ramOs
Vice President of Merchandise

HécTOr HuGO HerNáNdez lee
Vice President of Human Resources

iGNaciO OrTiz lambreTóN
Vice President of Famsa USA

áNGel  alfONsO de sOTO HerNáNdez
Vice President of Banco Famsa

JOaquíN aGuirre carrera
Vice President of Marketing

maNuel rOdríGuez GONzález
Chief Information Officer

alberTO Gómez ViGuera 
Vice President of Planning and Control

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTiCES

Grupo FAMSA’s positive performance rests 
on sound Corporate Governance practi-
ces in compliance with the “Code of Best 
Corporate Practices” recommended by the 
Mexican Stock Exchange and the National 
Banking and Securities Commission.This 
has resulted in the optimal functioning of 
the Company’s Board of Directors, which, 
in coordination with the Audit Committee 
and the Corporate Practices Committee, 
is responsible for planning, approving and 
supervising all of the company’s operations.
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BOARD OF DiRECTORS
GRUPO FAMSA, S.A.B DE C.V

OFFiCERS OF GRUPO
FAMSA´S 

AUDiT COMMiTTEE

HumberTO Garza GONzález
Chairman

*luis GerardO Villarreal rOsales
Secretary

*ricardO maldONadO Yañez
Alternate Secretary

*They are officers of the Board of Directors, 
without being part of it.

rOberTO GuTiérrez García
Chairman

salVadOr llareNa arriOla
Member

JOrGe luis ramOs saNTOs
Member

HumberTO Garza GONzález
Director

HumberTO Garza Valdéz
Director

HerNáN JaVier Garza Valdéz
Director

Oziel mariO Garza Valdéz
Director

berNardO Guerra TreViñO
Independent Director

salVadOr Kalifa assad
Independent Director

JOrGe luis ramOs saNTOs
Independent Director

JOsé luis OcHOa bauTisTa
Independent Director

rOberTO GuTiérrez García
Independent Director

HumberTO Garza GONzález 
Founder and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gru-
po FAMSA.

HumberTO Garza Valdéz
Humberto Garza Valdez holds 31 years of experience 
at Grupo FAMSA, and he is the son of Mr. Humberto 
Garza Gonzalez (our founder). During the last 20 years, 
Mr. Garza Valdez has performed as our CEO, and has 
previously served as our Deputy CEO. He holds a Bach. 
degree in Administration from Universidad de Monte-
rrey (UDEM) and a Masters in Management from Institu-
to Panamericano de Alta Direccion de Empresa (IPADE).

HerNáN JaVier Garza Valdéz 
Hernan Garza Valdez holds 29 years of experience at 
Grupo Famsa, and he is the son of Mr. Humberto Garza 
Gonzalez (our founder). Mr. Garza Valdez performs as 
our Strategic Planning Director. He holds a Bach. de-
gree in Economics from Instituto Tecnológico y de Estu-
dios Superiores de Monterrey (ITESM), a Master in MBA 
from the University of Notre Dame and also a Master in 
IT also from the ITESM.

Oziel mariO Garza Valdéz 
Oziel Garza Valdez holds 23 years of experience in Gru-
po FAMSA, and he is the son of Mr. Humberto Garza 
Gonzalez (our founder). For the last 17 years, Mr. Garza 
Valdez has performed as Managing Director of our line 
of clothing and Verochi. He also previously served as 
Commercial Director of the Monterrey Zone. He holds a 
Bach. degree in Administration from UDEM, and a Mas-
ters in Administration from IPADE.

berNardO Guerra TreViñO 
Bernardo Guerra Treviño has served on Grupo Famsa’s 
Board of Directors since 2011 and at Banco FAMSA’s 
since 2007 to 2014. He is Co-founder and Managing Di-
rector at Guerra Capital Asesores (MG Capital). Additio-
nally, he is a Director on the Board of Axtel and chairs its 
Audit and Corporate Practices Committee. Moreover, 
he is a Director on the Board and Chairman of the Audit 
and Corporate Practices Committee in Promotora Am-
biental. He is an Industrial engineer from the ITESM.

salVadOr Kalifa assad
Salvador Kalifa Assad has been a Director on the Board 
of Grupo FAMSA since 1997 and on the Board of Banco 
FAMSA since 2007. He currently runs his own company, 
Consultores Economicos Especializados, S.A. de C.V. 
and performs analysis for the magazzine Alto Nivel and 
for a number of Mexican newspapers in a number of 
editorial columns. Mr. Kalifa was engaged as Director of 
Economic Analysis at Grupo Alfa for 7 years, and also 
served at Grupo Financiero GBM-Atlantico. Additiona-
lly, he has served as a Director on the Boards of Grupo 
IMSA, Verzatec and Banorte. He holds a Bach. degree 
in Economics from ITESM and possesses a Masters and 
a PhD in Economics from Cornell.
JOrGe luis ramOs saNTOs 
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CORPORATE PRACTiCES 
COMMiTTEE

BANCO AHORRO FAMSA S.A.,
iNSTiTUCióN DE BANCA MúlTiPlE

BOARD OF DiRECTORS

OFFiCERS OF BANCO AHORRO 
FAMSA´S BOARD OF DiRECTORS

JOse luis OcHOa bauTisTa
Chairman

*ricardO maldONadO Yañez
Secretary

*HumberTO lOza lóPez
Alternate Secretary

*They are officers of the Board of Directors, 
without being part of it.

HumberTO Garza Valdéz
Director

Oziel mariO Garza Valdéz
Director

HerNáN JaVier Garza Valdéz
Director

luis GerardO Villarreal rOsales
Director

áNGel  alfONsO de sOTO HerNáNdez
Director

HécTOr mediNa aGuiar
Independent Director

salVadOr Kalifa assad
Independent Director

JOsé luis OcHOa bauTisTa
Independent Director

GerardO JOsé de la Garza saNTOs
Independent Director

JOrGe luis ramOs saNTOs
Independent Director

rOberTO GuTiérrez García
Independent Director

JOrGe luis ramOs saNTOs
Chairman

salVadOr llareNa arriOla
Member

JOsé luis OcHOa bauTisTa
Member
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Jorge Luis Ramos Santos has been Director on the 
Board of Grupo FAMSA since 2006 and director ofthe 
Board of Banco FAMSA since 2015. He currently acts on 
behalf of Heineken Americas in its joint ventures and is 
also Senior Advisor of this Company. He has also per-
formed as Vice-Chairman at Heineken Americas, CEO 
of Cerveceria Cuauhtemoc Moctezuma, as well as HR 
and Commercial SVP in Femsa Cerveza. He is currently 
Director at the Board of a number of companies in La-
tam, as well as member of business organizations and 
universities’ patronages in Mexico. He holds a Bach. in 
Accounting and Administration from ITESM, a Masters 
in Administration from Wharton School of the University 
of Pennsylvania.

JOsé luis OcHOa bauTisTa
Memeber of Grupo FAMSA’s Board of Directors since 
2016, and the Board of Banco FAMSA since 2014. Has 
over 15 years of experience in the Mexican Financial 
System. He currently serves as director and consultant 
of several financial institutions. He acted as Executive 
Secretary of the Mexican Bank Savings Protection Insti-
tute (known by its acronym in Spanish as “IPAB”) for 2 
years, Credit Manager of the Mexican National Works 
and Public Services Bank (known as “Banobras”) for 4 
years, and VP of Supervision of the Mexican National 
Banking and Securities Commission (“CNBV”) for 5 
years. He has been an adviser of the World Bank and In-
ter-American Development Bank, as well as commissio-
ner, director and/or member of the Technical Commit-
tee of the following institutions (known by its acronym 
in Spanish as): NAFIN, BANCOMEXT, FIDEC, BANSE-
FI, FIDELIQ, CONSAR, CNSF, SAE.  Mr. Ochoa holds a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the Universidad 
Nacional Autónoma de México (“UNAM”) and an MBA 
in Finance from the MIT Sloan School of Management, 
as well as a certificate in Management and Leadership 
from the same institution.

rOberTO GuTiérrez García
Memeber of Grupo FAMSA’s Board of Directors since 
2016. Has served his profession in several positions at 
Grupo Financiero BBVA Bancomer from 1982 to 2002, 
including the position of Director of Audit which he 
held for the last 10 years before his departure from the 
group. Subsequently, from 2003 to 2016, he joined the 
Instituto de Fondo Nacional de la Vivienda para los Tra-
bajadores (Mexico’s National Workers Housing Fund 
Institute, “INFONAVIT”), where he held the position of 
Chief Audit Executive for the last 10 years before his de-
parture from the institution. Mr. Gutierrez holds a B.A. in 
Accounting from the Escuela Bancaria y Comercial, SC 
(Mexico’s School of Banking and Commerce, “EBC”), he 
also holds a Certified Internal Auditor (“CIA”) certifica-
tion from the Institute of Internal Auditors (“IIA”), as well 
as several Diplomas in Comprehensive Audit, Financial 
and Credit Risk Management, and Corporate Governan-
ce from universities such as Universidad Nacional Autó-
noma de México, Instituto Tecnológico Autónomo de 
México, and Universidad Anáhuac.
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MANAGEMENT ANAlYSiS AND DiSCUSSiON OF THE OPERATiNG RESUlTS AND
FiNANCiAl POSiTiON
For the year ended December 31, 2016

NeT sales

Accumulated Consolidated Net Sales as of December 
31, 2016 rose 9.5% year-over-year, totaled $17,544 
million pesos. The growth trend in sales is due from 
the boost of successful advertising campaigns and 
continuous discount programs implemented for dura-
ble goods through FAMSA Mexico, business segment 
that reflected an annual increase of 9.2% during 2016. 

As for FAMSA USA, in 2016 the increase in pesos of 
Net Sales was 11.8% YoY, as a result of the effect of a 
higher exchange rate, which in turn offset the effects 
of a lower demand, mainly during the third and fourth 
quarter, owing to the prevailing economic and politi-
cal uncertainty in the United States.

Consolidated Same Stores Sales (SSS) grew by 6.2% 
for full-year 2016. The expansion in SSS of FAMSA 
Mexico, which grew 8.2% during the 2016 fiscal year, 
provided the support to achieve this result. Same Sto-
re Sales (SSS) of FAMSA USA, excluding the effect by 
exchange rate, decreased by 7.5% YoY in 2016.

It should be noted audited figures for Consolida-
ted Net Sales for 2016 consider the incorporation of 
the sale of memberships called “Wellness Club” in 
its product portfolio. The “Wellness Club” includes 
certain services such as assistance, life insurance and 
theft insurance.

Consequently, in order to present more adequately 
the revenue generated by the sales commission 
of this type of memberships, Grupo FAMSA Mana-
gement has decided to record the net income from 
these transactions. As a result, for fiscal year 2016, 
Grupo FAMSA reclassified Ps.495 million of Cost of 
Sales (cost of goods sold) to Net Sales. Likewise, and 
for comparison purposes, as of December 31, 2015, 
an amount of Ps. 355 million of Cost of Sales (cost of 
goods sold) was reclassified to Net Sales in order to 
record the net income from these transactions.

cOsT Of sales aNd GrOss PrOfiT    

For fiscal year 2016, the Consolidated Cost of Sa-
les was Ps.9,724 million, which represents an annual 
growth of 8.4% compared to its result of Ps.8,967 mi-
llion in 2015. The variation against the previous year 
is due to the increase of 23.2% YoY in the Interest Ex-
pense on Bank Deposits derived from a larger deposit 
base as of year-end, as well as the annual increase in 
cost of goods sold of 9.0%, in line with the sales volu-
me expansion generated during 2016.

Similarly, the allowance for doubtful accounts was ad-
justed during 4Q16 to reach Ps.1,692 million as of the 
close of 2016 since Grupo FAMSA´S Management ca-
rried out the evaluation of its consolidated loan port-
folio for year-end And its corresponding allowance for 
doubtful accounts in conjunction with the auditor. As 
a result, considering the economic context of uncer-
tainty and volatility prevailing today, the Company’s 
Management made certain adjustments to its reser-
ve estimation methodology, pursuing to be more 
conservative in its recovery criteria. As a result, the 
allowance for doubtful accounts represents 9.6% of 
the sales volume recorded by the Company for the 
year 2016. 

Finally, for fiscal year 2016, Grupo FAMSA reclassi-
fied Ps.495 million from Cost of Sales (cost of goods 
sold) to Net Sales in order to record the net income 
corresponding to the sale of memberships of “Well-
ness Club”. In addition, for comparison purposes, at 
December 31, 2015, an amount of Ps. 365 million of 
Cost of Sales (cost of goods sold) was reclassified to 
Net Sales to post net income from these transactions. 
(See Net Sales.).

Consolidated Gross Profit for 2016 totaled Ps.7,819 
million, an increase of 10.8% compared to fiscal year 
2015, where the result was Ps.7,055 million. The varia-
tion against the previous period is a reflection of the 
increase in sales volume, particularly in Mexico. 
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ebiTda

Similarly, the annual operating flow was impacted by 
non-recurring expenses generated by severance pa-
yments during the second and third quarter of 2016.
In addition, the annual operating flow was impacted 
by non-recurring expenses generated by severance 
payments during the second and third quarter of the 
year.

fiNaNcial eXPeNses, NeT

Consolidated Financial Expenses, for year-ended in 
2016, totaled Ps.1,095 million, a decrease of 9.7% 
YoY, since there was a recognition of an interest ear-
ned for the year derived from the updating of the pre-
sent value of the Collection Rights with related par-
ties (recorded in December 2015). For the fiscal year 
2016, there was a net accumulated loss per exchan-
ge rate of Ps.548 million, while in 2015 it was Ps.462 
million, an 18.6% higher YoY.  due to exchange rate 
variations, as well as an increase in interest paid of 
22.8% YoY in line with the depreciation of the peso 
and the increase of the reference rate (250 bps).

NeT iNcOme

Consolidated Net Income as for year-end 2016 was 
Ps.346 million, compared to Ps.149 million during 
2015. The variation against the previous year reflects 
an earned income during the year 2016 due to the 
updating in the present value of the collection rights 
with related parties (recorded in December 2015) and 
a higher deferred asset tax compared to year 2015.

* For more detail, see Notes 1 and 5 of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year 2016.

The consolidated Gross Margin for the year 2016 was 
44.6% vs. 44.0% recorded in 2015, expanding 60 ba-
sis points.

* For more detail, see Notes 1 and 5 of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year 2016.

OPeraTiNG eXPeNses

During fiscal year 2015 a reimbursement was received 
for improvements to premises leased totaling Ps.570 
million from related parties. In order to best present 
such income of reimbursements from affiliates, Grupo 
FAMSA reclassified this amount from Operating Ex-
penses (Selling Expenses) to Other Income (net) as of 
December 31, 2015.

As a result, Operating Expenses for the year 2015 
closed at Ps.6,562 million, which are comparable to 
the Operating Expenses incurred during 2016, which 
closed at Ps. 7,051 million, representing an annual in-
crease of 7.4%. The annual variation reflects, in part, 
the non-recurring severance expenses disbursed in 
2016 due to the reduction of positions in our labor 
force, which declined by 7.6% YoY. 

ebiTda

In 2016, Consolidated EBITDA was Ps. 1,411 million, 
posting an annual decrease of 15.5% compared to 
Ps.1,670 million in 2015 due to certain adjustments 
and actions carried out by the company.

Firstly, Company’s Management carried out certain 
adjustments to its reserve estimation methodology, 
seeking a more conservative approach in its reco-
very criteria, and determined for fiscal year 2016 an 
allowance for doubtful accounts of Ps.1,692 million 
thus, in order to consider the economic context of un-
certainty and volatility that prevails today.

In addition, during 2016, the deferral recognition bet-
ween expenses and income related to payroll credit 
origination had a negative impact on Consolidated 
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Trade receiVables

Regarding Trade Receivables account, an oversight 
was noted in the procedure for grouping certain port-
folios pertaining to 2015 and of prior years that were 
considered in the valuation and in recording impair-
ment of the aforementioned portfolios in accordance 
with IFRS

As a result, allowance for impairment of loan port-
folios and corresponding deferred taxes increased, 
decreasing Grupo FAMSA´s Stockholders’ Equity by 
Ps.2,100 million. The Company signed an uncondi-
tional payment guarantee agreement with no reser-
vation, for an amount of Ps.5,091 million, which was 
considered as Collection Rights from related parties, 
since it is virtually certain that the collection will be 
performed. 

The present value of the guarantee as of December 
31, 2016 was Ps.4,905 million, of which Ps.800 million 
are classified as current assets and Ps.4,105 million as 
non-current assets in the statement of financial posi-
tion.

As of December 31, 2016 the consolidated balance 
of Trade Receivables, net of allowances for doubtful 
receivables, was Ps.25,893 million, 18.3% above that 
of December 2015. Consumer portfolio in Mexico 
was the main driver of receivables growth, increasing 
25.2% vs. 2015, reaching Ps.19,583 million, derived 
from progressive consumer loan origination, mostly 
under payroll credit terms. 

Meanwhile, the origination of the consolidated com-
mercial portfolio in Mexico decreased by 7.9% as of 
December 31, 2016 vs. December 2015, due to our 
strategy oriented to stimulate payroll credits with hig-
her profitability.

iNVeNTOrY

The inventory balance a the of December 2016 increa-
sed 4.1% compared to 2015, resulting in $2,554 mi-
llion pesos, mainly due to price increases by suppliers 
and the depreciation of the peso against the ameri-

can dollar (operations in the USA).

baNK dePOsiTs & NeT debT

For fiscal year 2016, Bank Deposits, dispersed in more 
than 1.2 million accounts, added a total amount of 
Ps.21,063 million, which recorded an annual increase 
of 14.7% compared to the year 2015. The foregoing 
continues to be the result of the campaigns Which 
were implemented during the year, focused on in-
creasing the deposit base.

At the end of the year, deposits accounted for 67.8% 
of the funding of Grupo FAMSA. 89.0% of these de-
posits are established at term. At the end of 2016 the 
average funding rate reached a level of 4.5%, increa-
sing in a lower proportion than the growth of the TIIE 
during 2016.

Net debt at December 31, 2016 amounted to Ps.8,497 
million, 23.0% higher than AsA. This increase mainly 
reflects the effects of the devaluation of the peso 
against the US dollar and a decrease of 31.5% in cash 
and cash equivalents from Ps.2, 194 million in 2015 to 
Ps.1, 504 million in this quarter. The decrease in cash 
and cash equivalents derives mainly from greater uses 
for origination of payroll loans.

Similarly, the balance of the gross debt at December 
31, 2016, excluding bank deposits, grew by 9.9%. 
4T15. The continued devaluation of the peso against 
the dollar has been the main factor behind this in-
crease.

BAlANCE SHEET
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sHareHOlder´s equiTY

As of December 31, 2015, the balance in the stoc-
kholders’ equity account was Ps.7,633 million. 

During 2015, the shortfall detected in the loan portfo-
lios resulted in an increase in the allowance for doubt-
ful accounts of the consolidated loan portfolio, as well 
as the corresponding deferred tax, with a net impact 
of Grupo FAMSA’s equity in Ps. 2.1 billion. As a re-
sult, such credit portfolios were guarantee, with the 
support of the controlling shareholder and founder, 
for the dual purpose of maintaining the value of the 
business by not affecting the Company’s assets and 
protecting the investors.

The execution of the guarantee continues without re-
presenting a dilution for investors, since the balance 
of the collection rights with related parties will be di-
minished and an increase in the cash will be registe-
red.

Shareholders’ Equity as of December 31, 2016 
amounted to Ps.8,315 million, up by 8.9% vs. 2015.
 
It is important to note, during 2016 Grupo FAMSA´s 
Management carried out the evaluation of its consoli-
dated loan portfolio, and its corresponding allowance 
for doubtful accounts. In addition, given the econo-
mic context of uncertainty and volatility prevailing 
today, the Company’s Management applied certain 
adjustments to its reserve allowance methodology, 
pursuing to be more conservative in its recovery cri-
teria. As a result, Grupo FAMSA recorded a credit to 
the allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 
31, 2016 for Ps.728 million against retained earnings 
of prior years, net of deferred taxes of $218 million 
pesos. 

The net effect on retained earnings for the year 2016 
was $509 million pesos. If this amount is deducted 
from the minority interest, the amount totals $508 mi-
llion pesos. This transaction is recorded under “Other 
movements, net of income taxes” described in the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ 
Equity as of December 31, 2016. Since it was no prac-
tical to determine the effect of impairment on prior 
years’ portfolios due to the practical impossibility of 
having different elements to reconstruct the condi-
tions and circunstances at each date, or the specific 
assumptions inclusión of a record of theses portfo-
lios trends prevaling in prior years, as result wich, the 
company recognized those effects affecting the initial 
balance of retained earnings.

* For more detail, see Note 5 of the consolidated financial state-
ments for the year 2016.

IA16
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OpiniOn  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grupo FAMSA, S.A.B de C.V. and subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2016, the consolidated statement 
of income, and other comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Grupo FAMSA, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2016, and its 
consolidated results and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
these standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Mexico, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

The key audit matters are those that, in our professional judgment, have been most relevant in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters have been addressed in the context of our 
audit of the overall consolidated financial statements and in forming our opinion thereupon, and we express no 
separate opinion on those matters.

Auditors’ report
The Board of Director and Stockholders Grupo Famsa, S.A.B de C.V. :

(Thousand of pesos)
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Collection rights from related parties 

(See Notes 1.b and 28, to the consolidated financial statements)

Key audit matter

On December 11, 2015, the Group entered into a collection rights agreement with certain affiliates and with the 
Group’s controlling shareholder in the amount of $5,091,334, which, according to the original terms, must be paid 
no later than 18 months after signing.

We consider this matter to be a key audit matter because of the materiality of the transaction as well as the judg-
ment involved in the allocation of the discount rate of this account receivable.

How the key matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures for this key audit matter included, among others, the following.

With the support of our legal and tax specialists, we analyzed the collection rights agreement as well as its ratifica-
tion. Additionally, we obtained the opinion of an independent legal expert regarding the substance of the obliga-
tions listed above.

With the support of our valuation specialists, we evaluated the discount rate allocated to the collection rights whe-
reby interest income was recognized during the year 2016.

We met with Management personnel from the group to obtain and evaluate accounting / tax / legal considerations 
related to these collection rights. 

Through the analysis of subsequent events, we observed the recovery of approximately $660 million of these co-
llection rights up to the date of our report.

We analyzed the Irrevocable Payment and Guarantee Trust constituted and signed on April 20, 2017 between the 
Group and its guarantors where a package of real estate of the latter was deposited.

In accordance with the corresponding accounting standards we evaluated:

The recognition of collection rights as a financial asset.

The disclosure about recognition and subsequent recovery of the collection rights.

The classification of the account receivable as current / noncurrent in the consolidated statement of financial 
position in light of the recoverability expectation thereof.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

(See note 9 to the financial consolidated statements)

Key audit matter

Accounts receivable from customers, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, represent 61% of the Group’s total 
consolidated assets as of December 31, 2016. At the same date, the allowance for doubtful accounts amounts to 
$3,543,518.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. Other information comprises the information included in the 
Group’s annual report for the year ended December 31, 2016, which must be submitted to the National Banking 
and Securities Commission and to the Mexican Stock Exchange (the “Annual Report”), but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements or our auditors’ report thereon. The annual report is estimated to be available to us 
after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover other information and we will not express any 
type of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
when available and, in so doing, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or with our knowledge obtained during the audit, or whether it appears to be materially incorrect.

When reading the Annual Report, if we conclude there is a material error in that other information, we are required to 
report that fact to those responsible for the Group’s governance.

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with governance in relation to the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as Management deems necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements free of material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no other 
realistic alternative.

We consider this a key audit matter due to the judgment involved and because the type of industry and market 
where the Group operates, represents an implied risk in the appropriate determination of this estimate.

How the key matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures for this key audit matter included, among others, the following:

We obtained an integration breakdown of the Group’s portfolios subject to impairment and compared them to the 
book value of each component subject to analysis.

We tested the completeness, existence and valuation of accounts receivable at closing of the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2016.

With the support of our valuation specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of the methodology followed by the 
Group to determine the impairment of the collective portfolio under the concept of incurred loss. Additionally, we 
assess the reasonableness of the allowance for impairment of the credit portfolio determined by the Group, which 
considers, among other factors, the probability of default, exposure levels and severity of the loss, as well as an 
adjusted parameter that incorporates the factor of time between the first evidence of impairment and its materia-
lization.

We evaluated the adequate recognition of the client portfolio as an asset and its adequate classification in the con-
solidated statement of financial position in light of the expectation of recoverability thereof.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users made on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. Also: 

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
due to fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies applied and the reasonability of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by Management.

We conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

We assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
disclosed information, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.
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We communicated with those charged with the Group’s governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify in the course of our audit.

We also provided those charged with the Group’s governance with a statement that we have complied with the ethics 
requirements applicable to independence and that we have communicated all relations and other matters reasonably 
expected to affect our independence and, where appropriate, the corresponding safeguards. 

Among the matters that have been communicated to those charged with governance, we determined those that 
have been the most relevant in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and that are, 
consequently, key audit matters. We describe these matters in our audit report, unless the legal or regulatory provisions 
prohibit publicly disclosing the matter or, under extremely infrequent circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because it is reasonable to expect that the adverse consequences of doing so 
would surpass the public interest benefits thereof.

Emphasis of matter – Comparative financial information

We draw attention to note 5 of the consolidated financial statements, which discloses the comparative information 
presented as of December 31, 2015 has been reformulated. Our opinion has not been modified regarding this matter.

Other matters

The consolidated financial statements of Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 
for the year then ended, excluding the adjustments described in note 5, were audited by other auditors, who on May 
26, 2016 issued an unqualified opinion.

As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2016 and for the year then ended, 
we have audited the adjustments described in note 5, which were applied to restate the comparative information as 
of December 31, 2015. It was not practical to determine the effects per year in years prior to 2016 due to the practical 
impossibility of having several elements to reconstruct the circumstances and conditions at each date, therefore, these 
effects have been applied in full to the accumulated results as of December 31, 2015. We were not engaged to audit, 
review or apply procedures to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2015, with the exception of 
the adjustments mentioned in note 5. Consequently, we express no opinion or any other form of assurance on the 
overall presentation of these consolidated financial statements.  In our opinion, the adjustments described in note 5 to 
the consolidated financial statements are appropriate and have been duly applied.

KPMG CÁRDENAS DOSAL, S.C.

Rogelio Berlanga Coronado
Monterrey, Nuevo León, México
May 4, 2017
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 estAdos CoNsoLidAdos de situACiÓN FiNANCierA
Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries / December 31, 2016 and 2015

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)
   December 31,

Assets  Note 2016 2015   
     Restated (note 5)
CURRENT ASSETS:
  Cash and cash equivalents 7  1,503,578  2,194,323
  Accounts receivable, net 9   22,773,269  20,163,093
  Rights collection from related parties 1.b y 28  800,000  -
  Recoverable taxes        602,327  953,790
  Other accounts receivable 10       1,770,899  1,845,058
  Inventories  11     2,553,842  2,452,557
    Total current assets   3,003,915   27,608,821

NON CURRENT ASSETS:
  Restricted cash  8        311,785   311,785
  Accounts receivable, net 9       3,119,608  1,715,737
  Rights collection from related parties 1.b  4,105,381  4,533,475
  Property, leasehold improvements,  
  and furniture and equipment, net 12    1,880,989  2,065,452
  Goodwill and intangible assets, net 13        251,821  276,933
  Guarantee deposits         127,258  118,558
  Other assets  14        993,981  668,356
  Deferred income tax 24     1,695,040   1,061,448
    Total non-current assets      12,485,863   10,751,744
    Total assets                                           $   42,489,778  $   38,360,565
     
Liabilities and Stockholder’s equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES
  Demand deposits  15 $ 17,274,090         $ 14,478,945
  Short-term debt 16      4,026,018  4,190,162
  Trade accounts payable       1,373,372  1,627,793
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17        1,238,526  1,152,717
  Deferred income from guarantee sales          222,846  206,888
  Income tax payable            36,912   55,922
    Total current liabilities     24,171,764    21,712,427

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Time-deposits  15      3,788,816  3,879,884
  Long-term debt, excluding current installments 16     5,974,656   4,910,533
  Deferred income from guarantee sales          120,175  102,672
  Employee benefits 19         119,123  122,135
    Total non-current liabilities      10,002,770  9,015,224
    Total liabilities     34,174,534    30,727,651

STOCKHOLDER´S EQUITY:
  Capital stock 20      1,703,847  1,704,085
  Additional paid-in capital       3,810,052  3,812,903
  Retained earnings       1,975,230  1,610,942
  Stock purchase reserve          234,471   233,130
  Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment     558,059  240,396
  Total stockholders´equity 
  attributable to shareholders     8,281,659  7,601,456
  Non-controlling interest           33,585   31,458

    Total stockholders’ equity     8,315,244  7,632,914

    Subsequent events 28  -    -  
  
    Total liabilities and stockholders´equity                                            $ 42,489,778          $ 38,360,565

The accompanying notes to are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

LiC. HumBeRtO GaRza VaLdéz
Chief Executive Officer

C.p. aBeLaRdO GaRCía LOzanO
Chief Financial Officer

CoNsoLidAted stAtemeNts oF FiNANCiAL positioN
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CoNsoLidAted stAtemeNts oF iNCome
Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries / For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

(Thousands of Mexican pesos, except for basic and diluted earning per share)
  31 de diciembre de

 Note 2016   2015
   (See note 5)

Net sales 27 $  10,823,434 $ 11,200,909 
 
Interest earned from customers 27       6,720,295       4,820,666

  Total revenues     17,543,729  16,021,575

Cost of sales 21     (9,724,395)  (8,966,897)

  Gross profit       7,819,334        7,054,678

Selling expenses 21  (4,462,088)  (4,216,524)

Administrative expenses 21  (2,588,517)  (2,345,399)

Other income, net 22           225,519            631,699

   (6,825,086)       (5,930,254)                 
  Operating profit   994,248         1,124,424

Financial expenses  23     (1,474,492)  (1,216,645)

Financial income 23          379,617              3.995

Financial results, net       (1,094,875)  (1,212,650)

  Loss before income tax          (100,627)          (88,226)

Income tax 24          446,701  237,444

     
  Consolidated net income  $      346,074  $      149,218

Net income attributable to:
Controlling interest  $ 343,947 $ 146,970

Non-controlling interest              2,127   2,248

  Consolidated net income  $      346,074  $      149,218

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to
controlling interest, in mexican pesos  $            0.61 $            0.26

  Number of outstanding shares 20   561,969,112  562,087,912

  Weighted average of ordinary shares   561,987,872   562,301,302

The accompanying notes to are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

LiC. HumBeRtO GaRza VaLdéz
Chief Executive Officer

C.p. aBeLaRdO GaRCía LOzanO
Chief Financial Officer
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CoNsoLidAted stAtemeNts oF CompreheNsive iNCome
Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries / Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

The accompanying notes to are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

 Note  2016    2015

Consolidated net income  $     346,074 $      149,218  

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

  Ítems that will not be reclassified to satement of income:
  Actuarial gains (losses), net of income taxes
 19 y 24  20,341              946

Ítems that will be reclassified to statement of income:
  Foreign currency translation adjustment 24  317,663           225,476

    Consolidated comprehensive income  $      684,078   $ 375,640

Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to:
  Controlling interest  $      681,951 $      373,392

  Non-controlling interest              2,127  2,248

    Comprehensive income for the period  $      684,078 $      375,640

LiC. HumBeRtO GaRza VaLdéz
Chief Executive Officer

C.p. aBeLaRdO GaRCía LOzanO
Chief Financial Officer
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CoNsoLidAted stAtemeNt oF ChANges iN stoCkhoLders’ equity
Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries / As of December 31, 2016 and 2015

IA1640

Balances as of December 31, 2014 20 $1,709,173 $3,873,961 $4,460,419 $192,426 $14,920 $10,250,899 $29,210             $10,280,109

Other movements, 
net of income tax                            1.9a - - (2,488,980)          - -           (2,488,980) -            (2,488,980)
                                     
Repurchase of shares  (5,088) (61,058) -          40,704 -        (25,442)                             -    (25,442)

Net income  - - 146,970 - - 146,970 2,248 149,218
Other comprehensive income  - - 946 - 225,476 226,422 - 226,422

  Total comprehensive income  - - 147,916 - 225,476 373,392 2,248 375,640

Balances as of December 31, 2015     
(Previously reported) 20 1,704,085 3,812,903 2,119,355 233,130 240,396 8,109,869 31,458 8,141,327

Other movements,
net of income tax 5 - - (508,413) - - (508,413) - (508,413)

Balance as of December 31,2015
(Restated) 20 1,704,085 3,812,903 1,610,942 233,130 240,396 7,601,456 31,458 7,632,914

Repurchase of shares  (238) (2,851) -          1,341  -       (1,748)  -       (1,748)                
                   
Net income  - - 343,947 - - 343,947 2,127 346,074
Other comprehensive income  - -          20,341 - 317,663 338,004 - 338,004

Total comprehensive income  - - 364,288 - 317,663 681,951 2,127 684,078

Balances as of December 31, 2016  20 1,703,847 3,810,052 1,975,230 234,471 558,059 8,281,659 33,585 8,315,244

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

       Total
     Reserve Effects of stockholders’
   Additional  for foreign equity Total Total
  Capital paid-in Retained repurchase currency attributable non-controlling stockholders’
 Note stock capital earnings of shares translation to shareholders interest equity

LiC. HumBeRtO GaRza VaLdéz
Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balances as of December 31, 2014 20 $1,709,173 $3,873,961 $4,460,419 $192,426 $14,920 $10,250,899 $29,210             $10,280,109

Other movements, 
net of income tax                            1.9a - - (2,488,980)          - -           (2,488,980) -            (2,488,980)
                                     
Repurchase of shares  (5,088) (61,058) -          40,704 -        (25,442)                             -    (25,442)

Net income  - - 146,970 - - 146,970 2,248 149,218
Other comprehensive income  - - 946 - 225,476 226,422 - 226,422

  Total comprehensive income  - - 147,916 - 225,476 373,392 2,248 375,640

Balances as of December 31, 2015     
(Previously reported) 20 1,704,085 3,812,903 2,119,355 233,130 240,396 8,109,869 31,458 8,141,327

Other movements,
net of income tax 5 - - (508,413) - - (508,413) - (508,413)

Balance as of December 31,2015
(Restated) 20 1,704,085 3,812,903 1,610,942 233,130 240,396 7,601,456 31,458 7,632,914

Repurchase of shares  (238) (2,851) -          1,341  -       (1,748)  -       (1,748)                
                   
Net income  - - 343,947 - - 343,947 2,127 346,074
Other comprehensive income  - -          20,341 - 317,663 338,004 - 338,004

Total comprehensive income  - - 364,288 - 317,663 681,951 2,127 684,078

Balances as of December 31, 2016  20 1,703,847 3,810,052 1,975,230 234,471 558,059 8,281,659 33,585 8,315,244

       Total
     Reserve Effects of stockholders’
   Additional  for foreign equity Total Total
  Capital paid-in Retained repurchase currency attributable non-controlling stockholders’
 Note stock capital earnings of shares translation to shareholders interest equity

C.p. aBeLaRdO GaRCía LOzanO
Chief Financial Officer
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CoNsoLidAted stAtemeNts oF CAsh FLows
Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries / For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)
  December 31,

Operating Activities: Note      2016     2015

Loss before income tax  $       (100,627)     (88,226)  
Depreciation and amortization  12, 13            416,933         545,551
Allowance for doubtful accounts 21         1,692,509      1,689,702
Gain (Loss) on sale of property, furniture and equipment 22           (22,131)     (53,446) 
Estimated liabilities for labor benefits 19             23,686  19,932
Interest income 23  (7,711)          (3,995)
Present value, rights to collect from related parties 23  (371,906)  -
Interest expenses 23         926,802      754,846
Interest expenses to bank depositors 21  844,184  685,063
Exchange gain and losses, net   1,056,930  775,630
  Cash flows generated by operating activities
  before changes in working capital   4,458,669  4,325,057
 
Accounts receivable    (5,707,475)    (5,581,389)
Inventories of products for sale       (101,285)  (331,244)
Other accounts receivable            124,552  (1,241,882)
Trade accounts payable          (271,628)    331,491 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses            117,501  131,339
Interest paid to bank depositors   (825,094)  (678,651)
Income tax paid            (59,860)  (44,294)
Demand deposits and time deposits         2,684,987    3,600,874
Net cash flows from operating activities            420,367         511,301

Investing Activities:

Acquisition of property, furniture and equipment 12  (150,313)  (255,844)
Acquisition of intangible assets 13  (19,522)  (8,710)
Proceeds from sale of furniture and equipment              27,091         305,890
Interest received                7,711              3,995
Net cash flow (used in) igenerated by investing activities         (135,033)            45,331

Financing Activities:

Interest paid 16  (932,620)  (734,299)
Proceeds from current and non-current debt 16        3,721,275       1,212,865
Payments of current and non-current debt 16  (3,784,162)  (674,917)
Repurchase of shares, net          (1,748)       (25,442) 
                       
Net cash flow used in financing activities         (997,255)  (221,793) 

(Decrease) Increase of cash and cash equivalents          (711,921)        334,839

Adjustments to cash flow as a result of changes
in exchanges rates        21,176     1,213
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  7 $    2,194,323     1,858,271
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  7 $    1,503,578   2,194,323

LiC. HumBeRtO GaRza VaLdéz
Chief Exectuvie Officer

C.p. aBeLaRdO GaRCía LOzanO
Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
(*) The operation described in Note 1.a. and 1.b. did not affect the cash flows for the period.
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Notes to the CoNsoLidAted FiNANCiAL stAtemeNts
Grupo Famsa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries / 

(Thousands of Mexican pesos)

Note 1 - General information and other significant events.

Grupo Famsa, S. A. B de C. V. and subsidiaries (“Famsa”, “Company” or “Grupo Famsa”) was incorporated in Mexico 
as a corporation whose shares are traded in the Mexican Stock Exchange, S.A.B. of C.V. and are listed under the symbol 
GFAMSA. The address of the Company and its corporate office are located in Ave. Pino Suarez No. 1202 Nte, Zona 
Centro, Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, Mexico.

The Company is controlled by a trust whose beneficiaries are the Garza Valdez family.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 comprise the Company and 
its subsidiaries (the “Company” and individually “Company Entities”).

FAMSA, through its subsidiaries, is mainly engaged in wholesale and retail sales to the general public of consumer products 
such as furniture, appliances, electronics, clothing and footwear, and so on, as well as providing financing to customers.

The Company has the authorization of the Ministry of Finance and Public Credit to operate Banco Ahorro Famsa, S. A. 
Institucion de Banca Multiple (BAF) as established by the Mexican Law of Credit Institutions (LIC), under the supervision 
and monitoring of the National Banking and Securities Commission (the Commission) and Banco de Mexico (Banxico).

BAF’s main activities consist of providing multiple banking services in accordance with the LIC, which include, among 
others, taking and granting loans and the collection of deposits.

Relevant events of 2016 and 2015

See note 5, adjustments and reclassifications, which describes a certain deficit in the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Other relevant events of 2015

Events that affected the valuation of accounts receivable from customers as of December 31, 2015, signing of the 
unconditional agreement and without any reserve and other accounts payable and their effect on retained earnings.

a. Events that affected the valuation of accounts receivable from customers

i.  The macroeconomic events of 2015 and 2014, such as the depreciation of the Mexican peso against the dollar, 
contraction of the Mexican economy, collapse of oil prices, the fall in the consumer index, as well as the deceleration in 
consumer credit for much of the year, pressured the level of credit sales, affecting the individual economy of a significant 
segment of our customers and, therefore, their capacity to meet their credit payment obligations, the recovery of which 
was qualified with some uncertainly in the past.

ii.  For 2015, it was determined that such credits would not be recoverable under the originally agreed terms and, 
consequently, showed significant impairment.

As a result of the foregoing and in a practical manner, in 2015 the Company recorded a credit to the provision for 
impairment of loan portfolios in the amount of $915,000, plus a deferred income tax credit of $451,990, with the 
corresponding charge of  $1,366,990, to retained earnings. Had these effects been recognized retroactively to the 
beginning of 2014 a credit to the provision for impairment of loan portfolios in the amount of $896,711 would have 
been recorded, plus a deferred income tax credit of $650,138 with a corresponding charge of $1,546,849 to retained 
earnings. The variation in retained earnings from 2014 to 2015 described above, for $179,859 would have been 
recognized in the results 2014 as a credit. However, given the relative insignificance of all these effects on the overall 
context of the consolidated financial statements, the company did not considered necessary to carry out a complete 
restatement of the consolidated financial statements for 2014.
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iii. Additionally, in 2015, an oversight was noted in the procedure for grouping certain portfolios pertaining to 2015 
and prior years that were considered in the valuation and in recording impairment of the aforementioned portfolios 
in accordance with IFRS. The foregoing situation gave rise to a credit to the loan portfolio impairment provision 
of $5,091,334, with a charge to income for the period and to retained earnings of $1,254,995 and $3,836,339, 
respectively. It was not practical to determine the effect of impairment on prior years’ portfolios due to the practical 
impossibility of having different elements to reconstruct the conditions and circumstances at each date, as well as the 
specific assumptions and the inclusion of a trend history record of these loan portfolios that were prevailing in prior 
years, as a result of this, the Company recognized those effects starting 2015.

b. Signing of the rights to collect agreement.

As a result of the matter set out in paragraph a) iii above, and in order not to affect the Company’s equity with those 
charges, on December 11, 2015, the Company entered into a collection rights agreement with the following related 
parties: Desarrollos Inmobiliarios Garza Valdez, S. A. de C. V., Inmobiliaria Garza Valdez, S.A. de C. V., Inmobiliaria 
Garza Valdez de la Laguna, S. A. de C. V., Inmobiliaria Logar de Monterrey, S. A. de C. V. and Mr. Humberto Garza 
González (owner of those related parties and majority stockholder of the Company) for up to $5,091,334, to be paid 
no later than 18 months after  the agreement was signed. 

The written grant of this rights to collect represents the materialization of the main shareholder’s permanent intention 
to financially support the Company under special circumstances, as it has stated for years. As of December 31, 
2015, the present value of the collection rights was $4,533,475, which was applied as a charge to rights to collect 
from related parties, with a credit to retained earnings of $3,173,433, net of the effect of deferred income tax of 
$1,360,043. 

As of December 31, 2016, the right to collect that includes the present value plus the interest accrued at that date, 
amounted to $4,905,381, of which $800,000 is presented as current assets and the remaining as noncurrent.

c. Other accounts payable 

The Company identified an error in recording a certain liability. Therefore, for practical purposes, at the start of 2015, 
the Company recorded a credit to accounts payable of $468,072 and a charge by the same amount to retained 
earnings.  Had those effects been retroactively recorded at the start of 2014, retained earnings would have decreased 
by $468,072.

The aforementioned accounting entries are summarized as follows:
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   From prior years

Provision for impairment and income tax (note 1.a.ii.) $ (1,366,990)

Provision for impairment and deferred income tax (note 1.a.iii.) (3,836,339)

Adjustment to liabilities (note 1.c.) (468,072)

Other minior adjustments 8,988    

For the period

(5,662,413)

Payment guarantee agreement (note 1.b.)   3,173,433 

 Net in stockholders´equity $ (2,488,980)
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Note 2 - Basis of preparation

a) Authorization and preparation basis

The consolidated financial statements of Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”), adopted by public entities in Mexico in accordance with the amendments to the Rules for 
Public Companies and Other Participants in the Mexican Stock Exchange, issued by the Mexican National Banking and 
Securities Commission.

On May 4, 2017, Mr. Humberto Garza Valdez CEO of the Company and Mr. Abelardo Garcia Lozano CFO of the 
Company authorized the issuance of the accompanying consolidated financial statements and their notes.

In accordance with General Corporations Law and the Company’s by-laws, the stockholders are empowered to modify 
the financial statements after its issuance. The accompanying consolidated financial statements will be submitted for 
approval of the next Stockholders Meeting.

b) Basis of measurement.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for, the following items of 
the consolidated statement of financial position which were measured at present value or fair value:

a. Certain financial instruments
b. Collection rights from related parties
c. Long-term accounts receivables
d. Goodwill
e.  Defined benefit liabilities to employees measured at present value of the defined benefit obligation

c)  Presentation of consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

The Company decided to present the comprehensive income in two statements: the first statement includes only the 
items that comprise the net result and is denominated “Consolidated statement of income” and the second statement 
from the net result at which the income statements were concluded then presents the other comprehensive income. 
This is denominated “Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income”.

The Company presents its costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of income according to their function.

The Company presents the operating profit as it is considered an important performance measure for users of financial 
information.

In accordance with IFRS, the inclusion of subtotals as the “result of operating activities”, and the adjustment of the 
income statement varies significantly by industry and company, attending to specific needs. Revenues and costs that 
are of an operational nature are presented within this item.

The row “Other income, net” in the consolidated statements of income is mainly comprised of income and expenses 
that are not directly related to the main activities of the Company or that are of an unusual and/or non-recurring nature, 
such as losses on the sale of assets, among others.

d) Presentation of consolidated statements of cash flows.

The consolidated statements of cash flows of the Company are presented using the indirect method.
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e) Functional and reporting currency

The Company’s accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in Mexican pesos (“pesos” or “$”) 
because it represents the Mexican domestic currency and periodic reports to the Mexican Stock Exchange are carried 
in such currency.

Moreover, to determine the functional currency of each subsidiary of the Company, management assesses the economic 
environment in which it primarily generates and disburses cash. For this, factors related to sales, costs, sources of 
financing and cash flows generated by the operation are considered.

Because some of the Company’s subsidiaries have identified the dollar as functional currency, the financial information 
has been translated in accordance with the guidance in IAS 21 “Effect of exchange rate variations” to consolidate the 
financial statements, considering the methodology described in note 3.3.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the peso/dollar exchange rates were $20.64 and $17.32, respectively. Unless 
otherwise indicated, all financial information presented in pesos has been rounded to the nearest thousand. When 
referring to “U.S. $” or dollars we refer to amounts expressed in thousands of United States of America or US dollars.

f) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires Management to make a 
number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenses during the period. 

Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the useful lives of property, machinery and 
equipment, fair values of land and buildings, present value of accounts receivable, impairment of goodwill and long-
lived assets; valuation allowances for receivables, other receivables, inventory and deferred income tax assets; valuation 
of financial instruments, labor liabilities related to defined benefits and contingencies. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates and assumptions.

Note 3 - Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Basis for consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and those of entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Balances and transactions between group entities, as well as unrealized income and expenses, have been eliminated in 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized profits derived from transactions between entities 
of the group in which investments are accounted for under the equity method are eliminated against the investment to 
the extent of the Company’s interest in the subsidiary.

Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized profits, but only to the extent that there is no evidence 
of impairment.
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a. Subsidiaries

The subsidiary companies are entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiary companies 
are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of the date control begins and through the 
date such control ends.

Control is obtained when the Company: has power over the investment; is exposed, or entitled to, variable returns 
derived from its interest in said entity, and has the capacity to affect such returns through the power over the entity 
in which it invests.

When the Company has less than the majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over it when the voting 
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to conduct its relevant activities unilaterally. The Company considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances to assess whether its voting rights in the investee are sufficient to give it power, 
including:

i. Rights derived from other contractual agreements.
ii.  Any additional fact and circumstance indicating that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to 
direct 
the relevant activities at the time the decisions are to be made, including the tendencies of shareholders’ voting at 
previous.
iii.  The percentage of the Company’s interest in the voting rights in relation to the percentage and the dispersion of 
the  voting rights of the other holders thereof, and;
iv.  Potential voting rights held by the Company, other shareholders or third parties.

When the Company’s interest in the subsidiaries is less than 100%, the interest attributed to external shareholders is 
reflected as non-controlling interest.

The income and each component of other comprehensive income is attributable to controlling and non-controlling 
interests. The comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the controlling and non-controlling interests 
even if it gives rise to a deficit in the latter.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been adequate when it has been necessary to comply with the policies 
adopted by the Company.

b. Associates

Associates are all those entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control. Usually this occurs 
when owning between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in the associate. Investments in associates are accounted 
for using the equity method and are initially recognized at cost. The Company’s investment in associates includes the 
goodwill identified in the acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses.

If participation in an associate is reduced but significant influence is maintained, only a portion of the amounts 
previously recognized in the comprehensive income will be reclassified to the results of the year, when appropriate.

The Company’s share of the associate’s profits or losses after the acquisition is recognized in the income statement 
and its participation in other comprehensive income after the acquisition will be recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income items. The cumulative movements after the acquisition will be adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the investment. When the Company’s interest in the associate’s losses equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associate, including accounts receivable not guaranteed, the Company does not recognize future losses unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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The Company evaluates at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the 
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Company calculates the amount of the impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable value of the associate and its carrying amount, and recognizes the impairment in “loss / 
loss of associates” in the statement of income.

Intercompany transactions and balances and unrealized gains between Famsa companies are eliminated in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of impairment in the transferred asset. 

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Company. When the Company ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any difference 
between the fair values of the retained investment is recognized in the income statement, including any consideration 
received from the disposition of part of the investment and the carrying value of the investment.

c. Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are measured at the proportionate share of the net identifiable assets at the acquisition 
date.

Changes in the Company’s participation in an associate or joint venture that does not result in a loss of control are 
record as equity transactions.

As of December 31 of 2016 and 2015, the shareholding ownership percentages are as follows: 

                     % of ownership   
                                                   
                                            2016      2015

Retail sales

Famsa México, S.A. de C.V.   99.99%   99.99%
Impulsora Promobien, S. A. de C. V.   99.04%   99.04%
Famsa, Inc., (Famsa USA) 100.00% 100.00%

Administrative services
Corporación de Servicios Ejecutivos Famsa, S. A. de C.V.   99.99%   99.99%
Corporación de Servicios Ejecutivos, S. A. de C. V.   99.99%   99.99%
Promotora Sultana, S. A. de C. V.   99.99%   99.99%
Suministro Especial de Personal, S. A. de C. V.   99.99%   99.99%
Garval Servicios de Asesoría Empresarial, S. A. de C. V.   99.99%   99.99%

Manufacturing and other          
Auto Gran Crédito Famsa, S.A. de C.V.   99.99%   99.99%
Expormuebles, S. A. de C. V.   99.96%   99.96%
Mayoramsa, S. A. de C. V.   99.88%   99.88%
Verochi, S. A. de C. V.   99.99%   99.99%
Geografía Patrimonial, S. A. de C. V.   99.99%   99.99%
Corporación de Servicios para la Administración
de Valores, S. A. de C. V.   99.80%   99.80%

Financial Sector
Banco Ahorro Famsa, S. A., Institución
de Banca Múltiple (BAF)   99.99%  99.99%
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3.2 Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as the components of a company, engaged in the production and sale of goods and 
services, which are subject to risks and benefits that are different from those associated with other business segments. 
With respect to the years presented, December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company has operated on the basis of 
business segments. These segments have been determined considering the geographical areas. See Note 27.

Segment information is presented in a manner consistent with the internal reports provided to the operational 
decision maker. Responsible for allocating resources and evaluating the performance of operating segments, it is the 
CEO who makes strategic decisions.

Inter-segment transactions are determined on the basis of prices comparable to those that would be used with or 
between independent parties in transactions comparable to market value.

3.3 Foreign currency translation

a. Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions or of valuation when the amounts are revalued. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

b.  Translation of entities with a functional currency different from the presentation currency

The results and financial position of Famsa, Inc., which operates in the USA, are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position are translated at the closing rate at the date of such 
statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange 
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rates on the dates of the transaction), and

- The capital stock recognized in the statement of financial position is translated at historical exchange rates. 

All resulting exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income.

3.4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances, bank deposits and other highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of less than three months with minor risk of changes in value.
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3.5 Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents limited cash in BAF and it comprises: a) deposits required by monetary regulations with 
Banco de Mexico, which earn a bank funding rate, b) inter-bank short-term loans whose term does not exceed three 
working days, and c) purchased foreign currency, whose settlement date is agreed subsequently to the transaction 
date.

3.6 Financial instruments

3.6.1 Financial assets

The Company classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at the date 
of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. 

Accounts receivable represent amounts owed by customers and they arise from sales of goods or services rendered 
in the regular course of Grupo Famsa operations. Acquisition costs are initially recorded at fair value together with 
origination costs, and subsequently at amortized cost.

Costs and expenses associated with the initial granting of the loan are recorded as a deferred charge, which is 
amortized against income for the period as interest expense over the same accounting period in which the respective 
commission income collected is recorded.

Trade receivables and other accounts receivable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment allowance, because they meet both of 
the following conditions:

i.  The asset is maintained within a business model whose objective is to maintain the assets to obtain contractual 
cash flows, and;

ii.  The contractual conditions of the financial asset give rise, at specified dates, cash flows that are only payments 
of principal and interest on the amount of outstanding principal.

The Company records a financial asset as a write-off only when the contractual rights on the cash flows of the 
financial asset expire or substantially transfer the risks and losses inherent in the ownership of the financial asset. If 
the Company neither transfers or retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to retain 
control of the transferred asset, the Company recognizes its interest in the asset and the associated liability for the 
amounts it would pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Company continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a liability for the amounts 
received.
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Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is shown in the statement of financial position, when the 
right to offset the amounts recognized is legally enforceable and there are plans in place to settle them on a net basis 
or to realize the asset and pay the liability simultaneously.

3.6.2 Accounts payable

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired or received in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Loans are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Loans 
are subsequently recognized at amortized cost, any difference between the amounts received (net of transaction 
costs) and the settlement value being recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the term of the 
loan using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Liabilities in this category are classified as current 
liabilities if they are expected to be settled within the next 12 months; otherwise they are classified as non-current.
 
A financial liability is extinguished when the related obligation is canceled or it expires. If a financial liability is replaced 
by another liability with the same creditor under terms that are substantially different from the terms of an existing 
liability, the movement is treated as the extinction of the original liability and therefore a new liability is recorded. The 
difference between both book values is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis 
or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.6.3 Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and if that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or default by a debtor, restructuring of an 
amount owed to the Company in terms that the Company would not consider under other circumstances, indications 
that a debtor or issuer will declare bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of the credit granted by 
the Company, economic conditions that relate to non-compliance or the disappearance of an active market for an 
instrument.

The Company considers evidence of impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost at a specific level. 
The loan portfolio acquired is evaluated for specific impairment. The one that is not specifically deteriorated is 
evaluated for collective impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified.

In evaluating the collective impairment, the Company uses the historical trends of default probabilities, the timing of 
recoveries and the amount of the loss incurred, adjusted by management’s judgments related to current economic 
and credit conditions that make it probable for actual losses to be higher or lower than those suggested by historical 
trends.
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For loans and receivables, if impairment exists, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred) discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and 
the amount of the loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the administrative expenses line. 

If in subsequent periods the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 
reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

3.7 Other accounts receivable

The Company classifies as other receivables all credits or advances to employees and other persons or companies 
other than the general public. If the receivables are expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the 
financial year, they are classified as current, if not they are classified as non-current. See Note 3.6.1.

3.8 Advance payments

The Company records as advance payments the payments for advertising in mass media, mainly television and 
press.  These amounts are recognized at the value of the related agreements and are charged to income as they are 
accrued. In no case do the contracted amounts exceed one year.

3.9 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost comprises the cost of goods plus 
import costs, freight, handling, shipping and warehousing in customs and distribution centers, decreased by the 
value of respective returns.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
applicable variable selling expenses. The cost is determined using the average cost method.

3.10 Supplier Discounts.

In the normal course of its operations, the Company mainly receives two types of support from its suppliers: Volume 
discounts, which are earned as a result of maintaining certain levels of purchase, and “sell out” discounts, which 
result from the level of sales of corresponding items.

All supplier discounts are provisioned as they are obtained. Discounts received as a result of taking certain levels of 
purchase are accrued on purchase estimates based on the periods previously agreed with suppliers.

The provisions of discounts for volume and publicity obtained by promotion of products of the supplier, are initially 
recorded as a reduction in the value of merchandise inventories and, subsequently, as a reduction in the cost of 
goods when the relative products are sold. Displacement discounts are recognized as a reduction in cost of sales 
once the sale was made and the profit was earned.
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3.11 Property, leasehold improvements, and furniture and equipment

Property, leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment are recognized at cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, and until December 31, 2007, recognized the effects of inflation in Mexico. When the 
Company adopted IFRS, it chose to consider as cost of real estate, improvements to leased properties, furniture and 
equipment, the cost assumed at the date of adoption.

The cost includes expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of these assets and all expenses related to the 
location of the asset in the place and in the conditions necessary for it to operate in the manner envisaged by the 
Administration.

Costs for extension, remodeling or improvements representing an increase in the capacity and therefore an 
extension of the useful life of the assets are also capitalized. The expenses for maintenance and repairs are charged 
to the statement of comprehensive income in the period they are incurred. The book value of the replaced assets 
is derecognized when replaced, with all effects being taken to the consolidated statement of income, in the other 
income line.

Improvements in process represent improvements to stores that are in operation at the end of the year.

Depreciation on the assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Improvements to leased properties are amortized over the life of the lease or during the life of the corresponding 
improvement, whichever is lower.
 
Residual values, useful lives and depreciation of assets are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, at the date of each 
statement of financial position. The Company has the policy of not assigning redemption values to its assets since 
the amount recovered from future provisions is not representative of the original acquisition value.

The book value of an asset is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is higher than its 
estimated recoverable amount. See Note 3.13.

Gains and losses on the sale of assets result from the difference between the proceeds from the transaction and the 
carrying value of the assets. These are included in the consolidated statement of income within other income, net.

 Buildings and construction  33 years
 Furniture and equipment  11 years
 Transportation equipment     5 years
 Data-processing equipment     4 years
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3.12 Goodwill and intangible assets

a. Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the 
interest in the fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquire entity and the 
fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the 
cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of the value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognized immediately as an 
expense in the consolidated statement of income in the period which has occurred and is not subsequently reversed.
 
b. Systems development and computer software

Intangible assets associated with systems development and computer software programs involve the plan or design 
and the development of a new or substantially improved software or computer systems. 

Development costs are capitalized only when the following criteria are met:

-  It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

-  Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

- There is an ability to use the software product;

-  It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

-  Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software 
product are available; and

-  The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Acquired licenses for the use of programs, software and other systems are capitalized at the value of costs incurred 
for the acquisition and preparation for use.

Other development costs that do not meet these criteria and research expenses, as well as maintenance, are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income within administrative expenses as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in subsequent periods.

These assets are amortized based on their estimated useful life, which is six years.
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3.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill, are not subject to amortization and are tested annually 
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  In assessing the value in use, estimated future cash flows 
are discounted at present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the value 
of money attributable to the time factor and the specific risks to the asset. For the purposes of impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels where they generate identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial 
assets that are subject to impairment penalties are evaluated at each reporting date to identify possible reversals of 
such impairment.

3.14 Demand deposits and time-deposits

Funding liabilities include interest-bearing demand deposits (savings deposits and checking accounts) as well as 
time-deposits (certificates of deposits and promissory notes). These liabilities are initially recorded at the contracted 
transaction value net of the incurred costs transactions subsequently at their amortization cost using the effective 
interest method.

3.15 Provisions

Provisions represent present obligations from past events where an outflow of economic resources is probable. 
These provisions have been recognized under the best estimate made by Management.

3.16 Income tax

Taxes on profits include tax and deferred tax. Taxes on profits caused in the year are determined in accordance with 
the tax regulations in force in the country where each subsidiary operates. 

The effect on income from taxes on income recognizes amounts accrued during the year, as well as deferred income 
taxes, determined in accordance with the tax laws applicable to each subsidiary, except those corresponding to a 
business combination, or recognized items directly in stockholders’ equity or in the comprehensive income account.

Deferred income tax is recorded under the assets and liabilities method, which compares the book and tax values 
of the Company’s assets and liabilities and recognizes deferred taxes (assets or liabilities) in respect of temporary 
differences between these values.

Taxes are not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that is not a business acquisition and that does not affect the accounting or taxable income, and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they are unlikely to be reversed 
in the foreseeable future. In addition, no deferred taxes are recognized for taxable temporary differences derived 
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Deferred taxes are calculated using the rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
are reversed, based on the laws enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is 
a legally enforceable right to offset the tax assets and liabilities caused, and correspond to income tax levied by the 
same tax authority and the same tax entity, or different tax entities, but intend to liquidate the tax assets and liabilities 
caused on a net basis or their assets and tax liabilities materialize simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for tax loss carryforwards, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which they can be applied Deferred 
assets are reviewed at the reporting date and reduced to the extent that the realization of the corresponding tax 
benefit is no longer probable.

The statutory rates of the countries where the Company carries out its operations are as follows:

3.17 Employee benefits

a. Short-term benefits

The Company provides benefits to employees in the short term, which may include wages, salaries, annual 
compensation and bonuses payable within 12 months.

b. Pensions and seniority premium

These are cumulative remunerations that generate future benefits to employees offered by the entity in exchange 
for the employee’s current services, whose entitlement is granted to the employee during his / her employment 
relationship and is acquired by the employee and / or his / her beneficiaries, at the time of retirement and / or at 
retirement age or other eligibility condition.

The net obligation of the Company corresponding to the Seniority Premium and Legal Compensation for Retirement 
is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in the current and prior years.

The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position with respect to the seniority premium is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the 
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of defined benefit obligations is determined by discounting the estimated cash flows using the 
government bond yields denominated in the same currency in which the benefits will be paid and which have 
expiration terms approaching to the terms of the obligations. 

 Country    2016   2015  

% %

México 30 30

United States of America 34 34
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Actuarial gains and losses arising from adjustments based on experience and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to stockholders’ equity in other comprehensive income items in the period in which they arise, 
net of deferred income taxes.

The Company has no plan assets.
 
c. Employee participation in profits

The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes 
into consideration the taxable income after certain adjustments. 

d. Benefits paid to staff for compensation under labor laws.

These types of benefits are payable and recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the employment 
relationship with employees is terminated prior to the retirement date or when employees accept a voluntary return 
in exchange for such benefits.

In addition, the Company recognizes a provision when it is contractually bound or when there is a past practice that 
generates an assumed obligation.

3.18 Stockholders’ equity

Common shares are classified as equity.

The amounts of the capital stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in capital and retained earnings are presented at 
historical value, modified by the effects of inflation on the financial information recognized as of December 31, 
1997.  In accordance with the requirements of IAS 29 “Financial reporting under hyperinflationary economies”, the 
Mexican economy is currently in a non-hyperinflationary environment, maintaining an accumulated inflation for the 
last three years under 100% (threshold for considering an economy as hyperinflationary), therefore from January 1, 
1998 onwards the Company does not recognize the effects of inflation on the financial information. 

Legal reserve and reinvestment reserve

The net income of the year is subject to the legal provision requiring the allocation of 5% of the income for each period 
to increase the legal reserve until it reaches an amount equivalent to 20% of the fifth portion on the capital stock´s 
balances. The reinvestment reserve is intended to be reinvested in the Company under shareholders agreements; 
10% of the profit for the year is allocated to this reserve.

Reserve for repurchase of shares

The Shareholders’ Meeting establishes a maximum amount for the acquisition of own shares. When a purchase 
occurs, they are converted into treasury shares and their amount is charged to stockholders’ equity at their purchase 
price: a portion of the capital stock at its modified historical value, and the excess, at the stock repurchase reserve. 
These amounts are expressed at their historical value.
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3.19 Borrowing costs

The Company capitalizes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, as part of the cost of such assets. It recognizes other borrowing costs as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no financial costs capitalized because during these periods there 
were no qualifying assets in accordance with the Company’s policies. Leasehold improvements require construction 
periods of less than one year.

3.20 Revenue recognition
 

Revenue represents the fair value of the cash collected or receivable resulting from the sale of goods or services in 
the normal course of operations of the Company. Revenues are stated net of discounts, rebates and returns granted 
to customers.
 
The Company obtains revenues from retail operations primarily through the sale of products such as household 
appliances, furniture, clothing, electronics and mobile phones, and other financial services offered through BAF, such 
as granting personal loans.
 
The Company recognizes revenues when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria has been met for each of the Company’s 
activities, as described below.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognized when the customer takes possession of the goods at the stores or when 
the merchandise is delivered to their homes, when the risks and rewards are transferred. Approximately 79% of the 
sales are settled by customers with cards operated by the Company, and the rest is settled in cash or through bank 
credit and debit cards.

In accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue recognition” in installment sales of merchandise, the cash receivable is deferred 
over the time and therefore its fair value may be less than the nominal amount of the sale. In these cases the 
Company determines the fair value of cash to be received, discounting all future cash flows using an implied interest 
rate determined by reference to the prevailing market rate for a similar instrument.

The difference between the nominal value of the forward sale and the discounted value according to the previous 
paragraph is recognized as interest income as the term is accrued and is included in interest earned from customers 
in the consolidated statement of income.

The Company’s sales policy consists of selling its products to the end customer with a 7-day period return policy. 
Furthermore, when a product has a manufacturing defect, in the first 30 days, FAMSA and its suppliers agree to 
exchange the item for another one equal to the original, after a diagnosis by a technician authorized by the supplier.

The Company’s policy is to sell products with the right to return them. Customer returns are usually due to defects or 
imperfections in the product. However, in instances where the customers definitely seeks to return the product, the 
Company offers its customers the option to credit their account if the purchase was made with a card operated by 
the Company or credit their bank card if the purchase was made in cash or bank cards. 
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Interest income from sales of durable goods and personal loans is recognized as accrued using the effective interest 
rate method, except for interest from past-due loans whose income is recognized when effectively collected.

The Company started a customer loyalty program in 2015, whereby customers receive an electronic purse for 
purchases made for later use as payment in future purchases. 

The electronic purse is recognized as a separate identifiable component from the initial sale, and is recorded as a 
discount on the sale. Electronic purses expire at each year-end closing which means that any unredeemed balances 
at that date are canceled per Company policies.

The Company has incorporated the sale of wellbeing club memberships to the normal cycle of operations. This 
product is offered to customers at the point of sale and consists of different types of services such as medical advice, 
monitoring, health, etc. 

The Company acts as agent of this operation since the service to the customer is provided by a third party outside 
the Group. Therefore, the Company obtains a commission for placement of these memberships. This commission is 
recognized as income in the consolidated statement of income whenever a membership is sold to the clients.

 
3.21 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards relating to the leased property are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are charged to income based on the straight-line method over the lease period.

Property, plant and equipment leases under which the lessee substantially assumes the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Financial leases are capitalized at the start of the lease at the lower value resulting 
from comparing the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is applied to the liability, and the financial charge is recognized. Contract-related lease obligations, 
net of financial costs, are included in other long-term accounts payable. Financial-cost-related interest is charged to 
income over the lease period, in such a way that a constant interest rate applies to the balance of the liability for each 
of the periods. Property, plant and equipment acquired through financial leases is depreciated in the shortest period 
arrived at by comparing the useful life of the asset and the lease period.

3.22 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated dividing the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated 
by adjusting the attributable profit and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume 
conversion of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is the same as diluted earnings per 
share because there are no transactions that may potentially dilute the net income
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3.23 Tax Positions.

Income tax effects on the usefulness of uncertain tax positions are recognized when it is “more likely than not” that 
the position will be based on their technical merits and assuming that the authorities will review each position and 
have full knowledge of the relevant information. These positions are valued based on an accumulated probability 
model. 

Each position is considered individually, without measuring its relationship to another fiscal procedure. The “more 
likely than not” indicator represents an assertion by the Administration that the Company is entitled to the economic 
benefits of the tax position. If a tax position is considered to have a low probability of being supported (less than 
50%), the benefits of the position are not recognized. Interest and penalties associated to unrecognized tax benefits 
are part of the income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income.

3.24 New accounting pronouncements not early adopted by the company

There are different IFRS issued as of the date of these consolidated financial statements that have yet to be adopted 
and they are described below. Except when mentioned otherwise, the Company considers adopting these IFRS on 
the dates they are effective.

IFRS 9, financial instruments

On July 2014, IASB issued IFRS 9, financial instruments: classification and measurement (“IFRS 9”), which replace IAS 
39. This standard includes requirements for recognizing and measuring, impairment, discharge and general hedging 
accounting. This version of the IFRS 9 replaces all previous versions and is mandatorily effective for periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. The IFRS 9 does not replace the requirements of the 
portfolio fair value hedge accounting for interest rate risk.

This IFRS 9 includes the prior requirements issued and the following additional changes: the introduction of a new 
model of impairment of expected loss and limited changes to the classification and measurement requirements of 
financial assets.

The new impairment model is based on expected credit losses rather than losses incurred, and will be applied to 
debt instruments valued at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, to receivable leases, 
asset contracts, certain written loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.

This new category of measurement of fair value through other comprehensive income, will be applicable to debt 
instruments that are part of a business model whose objectives are achieved through the recovery of contractual cash 
flows and the sale of financial assets.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on the classification and valuation of its financial assets and 
liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedging activities. 

In a preliminary assessment the Company does not have fixed rate investments held to maturity. The Company 
considers the full adoption of IFRS 9 on January 1, 2018. Early application of IFRS 9 is not considered.

IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

This standard was issued in May 2014 and is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, although 
early adoption is allowed. Under this standard, revenue recognition is based on control, that is, it uses the notion of 
control to determine when a good or service is transferred to the customer.
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The standard also presents a single integral model for the accounting of revenues from contracts with customers 
and replaces the most recent income recognition guide, including industry-specific guidance. This comprehensive 
model introduces a five-step approach to revenue recognition: 1) identification of the contract; 2) identification of 
performance obligations in the contract; 3) determination of the price of the transaction; 4) assignment of the price 
of the transaction to each performance obligation in the contract; 5) recognition of income when the performance 
obligation of the entity is satisfied. This standard increases the amount of disclosures required in the financial 
statements, both annual and interim.

During 2017, the Company will analyze its contracts with customers in the countries in which it operates to analyze the 
different deliverables and other offers (discounts, etc.) within the same, among other aspects, in order to determine 
possible differences in accounting recognition of income in relation to current IFRS. In addition, training in the new 
standard has been provided to key personnel with the support of external experts. During 2017, the Company 
plans to complete its analyzes and quantify any necessary adjustments, If any portion of the revenue that is currently 
recognized at the date of the transaction or is deferred over a period of time, as applicable, should be recognized 
differently when adopting IFRS 15. Effective January 1, 2018, the Company plans to adopt IFRS 15 using the full 
retrospective approach. The Company does not consider the early application of IFRS 15.
 
IFRS 16, Leases

The standard was issued in January 2016 and will be effective as of January 1, 2019, with anticipated application 
permitted provided that IFRS 15 has been adopted. This new rule makes it possible for most of the leases to be 
presented in the statement of financial position for tenants under a single model, eliminating the distinction between 
operating and financial leases. For tenants, the lease will become the recognition of an asset (right of use), as well as 
a liability that will generate interest expense, which also implies changes in accounting recognition over the life of the 
lease. However, accounting for lessors remains with the distinction between lease classifications. 

In addition, training in the new standard has been provided to key personnel with the support of external experts. 
During 2017, the Company will revalue its policy under IFRS 16, in order to establish the bases and be able to quantify 
the adjustments necessary for the appropriate recognition of the assets by the “right-of-use” and the corresponding 
financial liabilities, with the plan to adopt IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019 in full retrospective form.

On a preliminary basis, based on its analysis at the reporting date, the Company considers that with the adoption 
of IFRS 16, the majority of operating leases will be recognized in the statement of financial position by increasing 
assets and liabilities, without a significant initial effect on net assets. The Company does not consider the anticipated 
application of IFRS 16.

IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows

On January 29, 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, effective as of January 
1, 2017. The changes attempt to allow the user of the financial statements to evaluate changes in the liabilities 
arising from financing activities. To this end, the IASB requires disclosure of the following changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities: (i) changes in financial cash flows; (ii) changes due to the acquisition or loss of control of 
subsidiaries and other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) 
other changes. One way to comply with this new disclosure is to present a reconciliation of the opening and closing 
balances on the balance sheet of the liabilities arising from financing activities. The amendments also state that 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities must be disclosed separately from changes in other assets and 
liabilities. The Company expects no significant effect from the adoption of these amendments in IAS 7.
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Annual improvement cycle 2014-2016 

This cycle of improvements is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and makes 
amendments to International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures, which explain 
that the choice to measure at fair value through results an investment in an associate or a joint venture, that is in the 
hands of an entity that is a venture capital organization or other qualified entity, Is available for each investment in an 
associated company or a joint venture on an investment by investment basis at the time of initial recognition.

IFRIC 22, Interpretation on Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Payments

This interpretation is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018, although it allows for 
their early adoption, and seeks to clarify the accounting of transactions that include the receipt or payment of 
an anticipated consideration in foreign currency. Interpretation is being issued to reduce differences in practice 
related to the exchange rate used when an entity reports transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency in 
accordance with IAS 21, in circumstances where the consideration is received or paid before the asset, expense or 
income is recognized.

The Company is in the process of determining the potential impacts of the adoption of these standards on its 
consolidated financial statements.

Note 4 - Risk Management

The risk management process refers to the set of objectives, policies, procedures and actions that are implemented 
to identify, measure, monitor, limit, control, report and disclose the different types of risk to which the Company is 
exposed.

Those responsible for risk management and their duties are:

•  The Board of Directors, whose responsibility is to approve the objectives, guidelines and policies for risk 
management.

•  Internal Audit, which is responsible for carrying out all the activities necessary in order to comply with the policies 
defined by the Board of Directors.

The Company has adopted as its main premise carrying out its operations in a conservative framework or profile so as 
to optimize its resources through the implementation of balanced operations between risk and performance.

The current strategy pursued by the Company is primarily focused on granting consumer loans, which will be supported 
by the funding of resources that will be obtained through deposits, and allocating correctly for more profitability, under 
the operation of BAF.

The criteria, policies and procedures adopted by the Company in terms of risk management are based on internal 
policies and applicable standards.

The Company is exposed to several market and financial risks.

I. Market Risk

Market risk is defined as the potential loss due to changes in the risk factors that affect the valuation or the expected 
results from lending/borrowing operations, such as interest rates and exchange rates, among others.
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a. Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates. Short- and long-term loans and debt certificates are subject to both fixed and 
variable interest rates and expose the Company to the risk of variability in interest rates and therefore its cash flows.

Changes in interest rates on long-term debt at fixed rates only affect the results if such debt is recognized at fair value. 
The Company initially recognizes loans from financial institutions and debt certificates at fair value and subsequently 
records them at amortized cost, thus the Company is not exposed to interest rate risk related to changes in fair value.

The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to short and long-term loans and debt 
certificates with a variable interest rate. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company was subject to the volatility 
of the variable interest rates, such that, an increase in these rates would result in a higher financial cost of the liability.

Based on the Company’s policies, it has not engaged in hedging activities through derivative instruments to hedge 
the interest rate risk for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 12.7% and 12.8%, respectively, of the Company’s debt with financial cost 
(including demand and time deposits) was denominated at variable rates. 

Faced with a hypothetical increase of 100 basis points in interest rates related to bank credit lines and debt certificates, 
and keeping the other variables constant, the Company’s financial expenses at as of the close of 2016 would be 
increased in $41.4 million.

b. Exchange rate risk

The Company’s exposure to exchange rate risk refers to risks associated with movements in the exchange rate of 
the Mexican peso against the U.S. dollar, with the Mexican peso being the functional currency of the Company. The 
value of the Mexican peso has been subject to significant exchange fluctuations against the U.S. dollar in the past.

The Company operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk, primarily related to the Mexican peso 
and the US dollar. The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions in 
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies and foreign investments.

The Company also has exposure to exchange rate risk for its debt denominated in U.S. dollars. As of December 31, 
2016 and 2015, 17.9% and 18.9% respectively, of the Company’s debt with financial cost (including demand and 
time deposits) was denominated in U.S. dollars. Based on Company´s policy it did not engage in hedging activities 
through derivative instruments to hedge the exchange rate risk for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

As of December 31, 2016, a 10% devaluation of the Mexican peso against the US dollar keeping all other variables 
constant, would impact the Company’s results by approximately $600 million.

The Company has monetary assets expressed in US dollars that are part of the operating unit in the US. There is no 
exchange rate risk since transactions are carried out only in local currency.
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II. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the inability of the Company to have sufficient funds available to meet its obligations. The 
Company´s Treasury Department is responsible for ensuring liquidity and managing the working capital in order to 
guarantee payment to suppliers, service debt and fund the costs and expenses of the operation. 

Furthermore, the Company has the alternative to obtain liquidity through loans drawn down from credit lines, debt and 
equity issuances, and funds from the sale of assets.

The following table lists the contractual maturities of the Company’s debt with financial cost and main current liabilities 
without financial cost according to maturity periods. The table has been drawn up based on undiscounted cash flows 
from the first date on which the Company may be required to pay. The table includes interest and principal.

Note 28, Subsequent Events, lists certain actions performed by Company´s Management to engage with short-term 
obligations described above.

                                                                                           Between           Between
                          0-6 6 months         1 year and       More than                  
                     months          and 1 year            2 years            2 years            Total

December 31, 2016

Demand deposits and time deposits $9,003,456 8,876,176 4,203,313      -    22,082,945
Short and long-term debt  3,598,565       1,017,173              733,298         6,387,431        11,736,467 
Trades and accounts payable
and accrued expenses 2,611,898              -                   -                    -               2,611,898 
Total                                                       $15,213,919             9,893,349               4,936,611       6,387,431        36,431,310

December 31, 2015                

Demand deposits and time deposits        $9,363,194         5,530,855          4,261,016                 -              19,155,065
Short and long-term debt  3,571,507        1,070,015             373,881         6,517,759     11,533,162 
Trades and accounts payable
and accrued expenses                            2,780,510               -                    -                   -               2,780,510

Total     $15,715,211         6,600,870             4,634,897        6,517,759         33,468,737
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III. Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the potential loss from the inability of customers to make all required payments. The accounts 
receivable of the Company represent amounts owed by customers and are generated by sales of goods or services in 
the normal course of operations. Since the Company’s sales are made mostly to the general public, there is no risk of 
concentration in a customer or group of customers. 

The Company has a risk management system for the credit portfolio, whose main elements include: 1) the risk of 
default and loss, which includes the processes of granting credit, authorization of purchase transactions and collection 
management; 2) operational risk, including security of the information and technology infrastructure, and 3) the risk of 
fraud, comprising the stages of prevention, analysis, detection, containment, recovery and solution.

The initial credit limits are calculated on an individual basis by the Company´s systems and are regularly monitored by 
the credit department to adjust them based on customer history. 

The Company has processes for reviewing credit quality of its customers for the early identification of potential changes 
in their payment capacity, implementing timely corrective actions and the determination of current and potential losses.

The Company continuously monitors its credit portfolio recovery considering several factors including historical trends 
in the aging of the portfolio, history of cancellations and future performance expectations, including trends in the 
unemployment rates. In addition to this analysis, the Company requires that loans be secured primarily by the goods 
sold or by a guarantor.

To quantify the credit risk of the Mexico commercial portfolio, the Company uses CREDITRISK+, which considers both 
the creditworthiness of counterparties and the exposure of each of the customers. CREDITRISK+ models the defaults 
themselves and is not intended to model or identify any causes underlying the defaults.

To quantify the credit risk of the consumer portfolio, for Mexico as well as for the United States of America, the 
Company uses collective assessment models which consider the risk level of debtors, considering their possibility of 
default and the severity of the associated losses.

The input data that is considered mainly refers to the probabilities of default, in accordance to the creditworthiness of 
the borrowers. The probabilities of defaults are based on the own behavior of the borrower. See note 6.2.1.

The Company is exposed to the following risks, which may have an impact on financial results.
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Exchange rate risk

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) in the MXN / USD exchange rate, as of December 31, 2016, would 
have affected the estimate of reserves in the portfolio denominated in foreign currency and affected in the amounts 
shown below. This analysis assumes an increase / decrease in the exchange rate of $1 MXN and that all other variables 
remain constant.

Credit risk

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) in probability of default (PD), as of December 31, 2016 would have 
affected the estimate of the portfolio reserve and affected the amounts show below.

This analysis was performed considering the default probability levels of each of the portfolios, a 50BP increase / 
reduction was considered in the portfolios of Metacard, Promobien, Famsa Mexico and Verochi, and a 10BP increase / 
decrease for the rest of the portfolios. The rest of the variables are assumed to remain constant.     

Repurchase transactions represent collateral financing through the submission of cash as financing in exchange for 
obtaining financial assets that serve as protection in the event of default.  

As of December 31, 2016, the Company had no repurchase operations, while as of December 31, 2015, it had collaterals 
for $1,200,000 and are presented under cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were undrawn credit lines granted to customers in the amount of $1,797,369 
and $1,122,230 and NAFIN guarantee programs for $1,019,956 and $1,026,524, respectively.

IV.  Capital Risk

The Company’s objective is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, maintaining a financial structure that 
maximizes the return to shareholders. The capital structure of the Company comprises debt, which includes financing 
contracted via bank loans and issuance of debt certificates, cash and cash equivalents and stockholders’ equity. The 
Company does not have an established policy to declare dividends.

    Sensitivity   Sensitivity
Effect in thousands of pesos  Reserve   +1 MXN -1 MXN

December 31, 2016

Portfolio in Dollars (USD)  $823,362  39,889 (39,889)
 

    Sensitivity   Sensitivity
Effect in thousands of pesos  Reserve   + BP + BP

December 31, 2016

Loan Portfolio  $3,543,518  19,313 (19,313) 
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The Company’s management annually reviews capital structure when presenting the budget to the Board of Directors, 
which reviews the planned level of debt and ensures that it does not exceed the established limit.

The leverage index monitored by the Company refers to that established in the issuance of debenture liability abroad 
in the amount of US$250 million, as well as issuance of debenture liability issued in Mexico during March, 2016 for 
$1,000 million pesos (GFAMSA16). 

In the former case, the leverage ratio considers financial figures under IFRS and is calculated by dividing: debt with 
financial cost (excluding demand and time deposits) by net profit (with no interest effect, exchange gain or loss, 
depreciation, amortization and taxes). Under this issuance, the leverage index had an established limit of 3.25 until 
June 2016 and after this date, 3.00, which may be higher under certain considerations and specifications contemplated 
such as the exclusion of exchange rate fluctuations, the possibility of incurring additional debts, among others. 

With respect to the issuance of debt certificates in Mexico, the leverage ratio considers financial figures under IFRS and 
is calculated by dividing the net debt with a financial cost (excluding demand and time deposits) by operating profit 
plus depreciation and amortization. Under this issuance, there is a 5.0 limit established.

V. Fair value estimate

The financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are classified on the 
basis of the manner of obtaining its fair value.

• Level 1 - fair value derived from prices listed (not adjusted) in active markets for identical liabilities or assets.

• Level 2 - fair value derived from indicators different from the listed prices included in Level 1, but that include 
indicators that are observable directly to listed prices or indirectly, that is to say, derived from these prices, and

• Level 3 - fair value derived from valuation techniques that include indicators for assets or liabilities that are not 
based on observable market information.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the book value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other accounts 
receivable, short-term debt, trades payable, accounts and accrued expenses payable approximate their fair value, 
mainly due to the fact that they are short term and to trade receivables which are shown at the expected cash flows, 
except long-term debt, whose fair value is presented in Note 16.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no transfers between levels 1 and 2.

BAF capitalization index

The capitalization rules for financial institutions establish requirements for specific levels of net equity, as a percentage 
of assets subject to both market and credit risk. The capitalization index required for BAF is a minimum of 8%. As of the 
2016 year end, BAF determined a capitalization index of 12.35% (12.03% as of December 31, 2015), which results from 
dividing net equity by the assets at risk including credit, market and operational risk.
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Note 5 - Adjustment to prior year and reclassifications:

a) Adjustment to prior year:

I.- As described in note 1.a.i, the macroeconomic events of 2015 and/or 2014 pressured the level of credit sales, 
affecting the individual economy of a significant segment of the Company’s customers and, therefore, their ability 
to meet their credit payment obligations, which had been qualified with some uncertainty in its recovery in the past.

During 2016, Management continued with its assessment of the recoverability of these accounts receivable in force 
as of December 31, 2015, this assessment was concluded during 2016. As a result of this, during 2016, the Company’s 
Management recorded an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts for $726,698 charged to retained earnings, 
net of deferred taxes amounting to $218,285 with a credit to retained earnings for the same amount. 

Since it was not practical to determine the effect of the impairment on prior years portfolios due to the practical 
impossibility of having different elements to reconstruct the conditions and circumstances at each date, as well as 
the specific assumptions and the inclusion of the trend history of these portfolios of that here prevailing in previous 
years, the Company recognized these effects. Affecting the initial balance of retained earnings.

b)  Reclassifications to the consolidated statement of financial position of 2015.

i. In order to present more clearly the effect of deferred taxes in the consolidated statement of financial position, the 
Company reclassified an amount of $1,353,282 from deferred income tax (non-current liabilities) to the income tax 
deferred income (non-current assets), in order to present in a single line the total deferred tax.

The effects of the previous reclassifications are as follows:

Assets

2015
Previously
Reported Adjustments Reclassifications

2015
Restated

Trades receivable, net $20,889,791 (726,698) - 20,163,093

Total current assets 28,335,519 (726,698) - 27,608,821

Deferred income tax 2,196,445 218,285 (1,353,282) 1,061,448

Total non-current assets 11,886,741 218,285 (1,353,282) 10,751,744

Total non-current assets $40,222,260 (508,413) (1,353,282) 38,360,565

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

2015
Previously
Reported Adjustments Reclassifications

2015
Restated

Deferred income tax $1,353,282 - (1,353,282)     -

Total long-term liabilities 10,368,506 - (1,353,282) 9,015,224

Total liabilities 32,080,933 - (1,353,282) 30,727,651

Acumulated utilities 2,119,355 (508,413) - 1,610,942

Total liabilities and stockholders’ 
equity $40,222,260 (508,413) (1,353,282) 38,360,565
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c) Reclassifications to the consolidated statement of income of 2015:

I .- In order to better present the reimbursement income of affiliates described in note 18, the Company reclassified 
an amount of $570,504 of selling expenses to other income, net as of December 31, 2015.

II .- In order to better present the revenue from commission on sales of wellbeing club memberships, the Company 
reclassified an amount of $355,505 of cost of sales (cost of goods sold) to net sales, to show net income from 
commission of this transaction.

III.-  In order to show the net profit of exchange fluctuation in the notes to the financial statements, the Company 
decided to close the exchange rate fluctuation in a single line in the amount of $522,683 as of December 31, 2015.

The effects of the previous reclassifications are as follows:
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2015
Previously
reported Reclassifications

2015
Restated

Net income $11,556,414 (355,505) 11,200,909

Interest earned from customers 4,820,666 - 4,820,666

Total revenue 16,377,080 (355,505) 16,021,575

Cost of sales (9,322,402) 355,505 (8,966,897)

Gross profit 7,054,678 -        7,054,678

Selling expenses 3,646,020 (570,504) (4,216,524)

Administrative expenses 2,345,399 - (2,345,399)

Other income, net 61,165 570,504 631,669

(5,930,254) - (5,930,254)

Operating profit 1,124,424 -        1,124,424

Financial expenses (1,739,328) 522,683 (1,216,645)

Financial income 526,678 (522,683) 3,995

Net financial result (1,212,650) - (1,212,650)

Loss before income tax $88,226 - (88,226)
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Note 6 - Critical accounting judgments and estimates:

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Company’s management 
needs to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates 
and assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors considered as relevant. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly. Adjustments to the accounting estimates are recognized 
in the period evaluated and in future periods if the evaluation affects the current period and subsequent periods.

6.1. Critical accounting judgments

Below are the key judgments, apart from those involving estimates, made by management in the application of the 
Company’s accounting policies and that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements.

6.1.1. Revenue recognition, installment sales

Note 3.20 describe the Company’s policy for the recognition of installment sales. This implies that the Company’s 
management applies its judgment to identify the applicable discount rate to determine the present value of 
installment sales. To determine the discounted cash flows, the Company uses an imputed interest rate, considering 
the rate that can be determined better from: i) the prevailing rate in the market for a similar instrument available for 
the Company’s customers with a similar credit rating or ii) the interest rate that equals the nominal value of the sale, 
properly discounted to the cash price of the goods sold.

When making its judgment, management considers the interest rates used by the principal financial institutions 
in Mexico to fund programs of installment sales. In the event the discount rate had a variation of 10% from that 
estimated by management, the effect on the present value of installment sales would be $112,062 as of December 
31, 2016.

6.2. Key uncertainty sources in estimates 

Following are the key sources of uncertainty in the estimates made at the date of the consolidated statement of 
financial position, and that have a significant risk of resulting in an adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities during the next financial period:

6.2.1. Impairment provisions for credit portfolio

The methodology used by the Company to determine the impairment of the aggregate accounts receivable is 
a model known as incurred loss, commonly used in the industry. This methodology is based on the estimation of 
the factors that determine the expected loss: probability of default, level of exposure and severity of loss; as well 
as an adjustment parameter that incorporates the time factor between the first evidence of impairment and its 
materialization, known as the Loss Identification Period (LIP).
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Thus, the Company determines its estimate of incurred loss as follows:

  PP=EAD×PD×LIP ×LGD

PP: Incurred loss
EAD: Value of the exposure of the asset at the time of calculation of the incurred loss.
PD: Probability of default.
LIP: Loss Identification Period.
LGD: Loss Given Default

6.2.2. Estimates of useful lives and residual values of property, leasehold improvements, and furniture and equipment

As described in Note 3.11, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of property, leasehold 
improvements and furniture and equipment at the end of each annual period. At December 31, 2016 it was determined 
that useful lives and residual values need not be modified since, in the assessment of management, the current useful 
lives and residual values adequately reflect the economic conditions in the Company’s operating environment.

6.2.3. Employee Benefits

The cost of employee benefits that qualify as defined benefit plans in accordance with IAS 19 (revised) “Employee 
Benefits” is determined using actuarial valuations. The valuations involve actuarial assumptions about discount rates, 
future salary increases, employee turnover rates and mortality rates, among other things. Any changes in these 
assumptions will impact the carrying value of the pension obligations. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such 
estimates are subject to a significant amount of uncertainty. 

Note 7 - Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

(a) As of December 31, 2016, the Bank does not have repurchase agreements.

2016 2015

Pretty cash and banks   $1,167,763 889,881

Investments  335,815        1,304,442(a)

Total $1,503,578 2,194,323
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As of December 31, 2015, the positions for repurchase agreements are composed as follows:

The average term of the operations carried out by the Bank as a reporter was one day in 2015. 
 
Note 8 - Restricted cash 

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 represents limitations of cash in Banco Ahorro FAMSA, S. A. 
Institucion de Banca Multiple, due to the deposits of monetary regulation constituted with Banxico by $311,785, 
which accrued interests at an average rate of bank deposits. 

Restricted cash balance is classified as non-current asset in the consolidated statement of financial position of the 
Company based on the expiration date of the restriction.

Note 9 - Accounts receivable, net

Government
Debit Balances

2015

BPAG91 (Saving Protection Bonds) $ 300,000

Bondes (Federal Government
Development Bonds) 900,000

Total $ 1,200,000

     2016 2015
Restated

Trades: 

Mexican consumer $22,175,899 18,138,414

México commercial 3,777,315 4,094,409

USA consumer  3,483,181  2,991,257 

29,436,395 25,224,080

Less – allowance for doubtful accounts  (3,543,518)  (3,345,250)

Net $25,892,877 21,878,830

Current accounts receivables $22,773,269 20,163,093

Non-current accounts receivables $3,119,608 1,715,737
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9.1. Movements of the allowance for doubtful accounts

This allowance applies to the balances of customers that failed to comply with the obligation within the allotted time 
and in the proper form, and which are showing unexpected economic difficulties, due to which, the original amount is 
not expected to be recovered under normal conditions in the following year.

9.2 Past due receivables

Trade receivables at the end of the year include past due receivables of $4,229,387 and $2,970,147 as of December 
31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, whose maturity is as follows:

The past due receivable corresponds to customers delaying in payment of the obligation within the term originally 
agreed-upon.

9.3 Credit quality of trade receivables

The credit quality of accounts receivables is assessed based on the historical default rates of the counterparties and is 
analyzed as follows:

Group A - Very low risk customers who have regularly met their payment commitments. 
Group B - Low risk customers who have made their payments on dates after the payment deadline. 
Group C - Medium-high risk customers who made their payments inconsistently.

       2016     2015

Opening balance        $ (3,345,250)   (1,750,873)

Other increases (Note 5)

Increases

         -     6,680,032

   (1,692,509)   (1,689,702)

Applications     1,494,241    6,775,357  

   Ending balance                          $ (3,543,518)                     (3,345,250)

2016      2015

1 – 30 days  $ 490,554     339,140

31 – 60 days     275,606     158,433

61 – 90 days     227,860      133,813

91 – 120 days     215,006      136,367

120 days of more   3,020,361   2,202,394 

Total past due receivable $ 4,229,387    2,970,147

Group 2016 2015

A  $ 22,575,171 18,038,361

B 2,524,123 2,311,115

C 4,337,101  4,874,604 

  $ 29,436,395 25,224,080
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Note 10 - Other accounts receivable 

(1) Assets for transactions with related parties. See Note 18.
(2) Accounts receivable from employees expenses pending to be approved.
(3) Sales commissions of wellbeing club memberships.
(4) Remnants for the provision of ATMs at Banco Famsa. It corresponds to cash in the custody of a third party and 
belongs to the Company.
(5) Sale auction receivable to the smelter.
(6) Includes accounts receivable for money transfers, among others.

Note 11 - Inventories

(*) Comprises all types of electronic products, household appliances, furniture, mobile phones, motorcycles and 
other consumer products.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 the Company recognized an amount of $102,395 and $95,078, 
respectively as damaged merchandise in the consolidated statements of income, within the cost of sales line.

                                                 2016               2015

Finished goods 
(*)

$2,221,520 2,115,842

Clothing, footwear and jewelry    306,022 288,839

Merchandise in transit 26,300 47,876 

   Total $2,553,842 2,452,557

2016 2015

Accounts receivable from affiliated companies (1)
$ 641,872 818,298

Employee debtors (2)
187,491 142,125

Electronic banking counterparts 119,320 104,505

General cashier operative 136,160 108,490

Electronic Banking Rejections 96,970 56,393
Commission for membership sales (3)

73,594 47,142
Remnants at ATMs (4)

10,827 46,788
Accounts receivable by auction (5)

41,056 26,143
Other debtors (6)

463,609 495,174

    Total $ 1,770,899 1,845,058
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Note 12 - Property, leasehold improvements and furniture and equipment

The depreciation expense is recognized in the consolidated statement of income within administrative and selling 
expenses which amount $347,405 and $467,498 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

(a)  See reimbursement of expenses arising from leasehold improvements in note 18.

Cost
Balance as of January 1, 2015 $ 328,454 603,663 1,124,534 2,672,972 260,894 549,118 2,068 5,541,703
Additions (*) 2,056 117 30,594 92,530 60,317 31,432 18,888 235,934
Capitalization of fixed assets - - - 1,656 - - (1,656) -
Disposals (63,215) (85,764) (132,955) (313,157) (75,386)   - - (670,477)
Differences by exchange rate
of cost - 39,873 25,097 26,439 10,129 5,093 - 106,631

Balances as of December 31,
2015 $ 267,295 557,889 1,047,270 2,480,440 255,954 585,643 19,300 5,213,791
Additions (*) - - 25,594 51,413 12,080 37,292 12,690 138,979
Capitalization of fixed assets - - - 18,886 - - (18,886) -
Disposals (*) (2) (18) (275) (202) (21,141)   (126) - (21,764)
Differences by exchange rate
of cost - 53,602 35,343 36,691 1,714 7,563 - 134,913

Reclasifications - - (163,802) 136,389 3,538 - - (23,875)

Balances as of December 31,
2016 $ 267,293 611,473 944,130 2,723,617 252,145 630,372 13,014 5,442,044
        
Depreciation and accumulates impairment

Balances as of January 1, 2015 - 136,487 554,826 1,645,123 188,324 510,484 - 3,035,244
Depreciation expense - 13,210 53,363 320, 108 41,4976 38,841 - 467,498
Cancellation of depreciation
acummulated from sale of fixed assets - (12,599) (26,469) (313,157) (66,363) - - (418,588)
Differences by exchange rate of
acummulated depreciation - 1,685 21,084 26,378 10,089 4,949 - 64,185

Balances as of December 31,
2015 $ - 138,783 602,804 1,678,452 174,026  554,274 - 3,148,339

Depreciation expense - 15,203 45,571 207,464 44,595 34,572 - 347,405 
Cancellation of depreciation
acummulated from sale of fixed assets - - (51) - (15,625) - - (15,676)
Differences by exchange rate of
acummulated depreciation -  (8,781) 42,420 36,537 1,324 9,487 - 80,987

Balances as of December 31,
2016 $ - 145,205 690,744 1,922,453 204,320 598,333 - 3,561,055

Book value – Net as of
December 31, 2016 $ 267,293 466,268 253,386 801,164 47,825 32,039 13,014 1,880,989
Book value – Net as of
December 31, 2015 $ 267,293 419,106 444,466 801,988 81,928 31,369 19,300 2,065,452

Trasnportation 
equipment

Data
processing 
equipmentLand 

Buildings and
constructions

Furniture and 
equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Improvements
in process Total
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Note 13 - Goodwill and intangible assets 

Intangible assets are as follows:

 

Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested annually for impairment.

Cost
Balances as of January 1, 2015     $243,174 408,364   651,538
Investments              -     29,313    29,313  
   Closing balance as of 31 December 2015      243,174 437,677  680,851
Investments              -    44,416    44,416  
   Closing balance as of 31 December 2016    $243,174 482,093  725,267
  
Amortization and accumulated impairment losses

Balances as of January 1, 2015                   $ -    325,865  325,673

Amortization           -      78,053   78,053  

   Closing balance as at 31 December, 2015         $ -                   403,918               403,918

Amortization               -     69,528    69,528

   Closing balance as at 31 December, 2016         $ -   473,446  473,446
    

Book value net

As of December 31, 2016               $243,174       8,647 251,821

As of December 31, 2015               $243,174     33,759 276,933

          

Goodwill
Software

and Licenses Total
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The goodwill arising in business combinations was allocated at the date of acquisition in its entirety to the cash generating 
unit (CGU) of FAMSA Mexico segment. This segment is benefited from the synergies of business combinations.

As result of annual impairment testing, the Company did not recognize an impairment in the years ended December 
31, 2016 nor 2015.

The recoverable amount of the operating segment has been determined based on value in use model. This model use 
pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.

The key assumptions used in calculating the use value are as follows:

These assumptions have been used in the analysis of each CGU within the operating segment.

The sales volume is the average annual weighted growth rate for the forecast five-year period. It is based on past 
performance and management expectations for market development.

The sales price is the average annual weighted growth rate for the forecast five-year period. It is based on current 
industry trends and includes long-term inflation forecasts for each territory.

The gross margin is the average margin that represents the percentage of income earned in the forecast five-year 
period. It is based on the margins of present sales levels and the sales mix, with adjustments to reflect expected future 
price increases.

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectations of market 
development. The increase rate average percentage used is consistent with that projected by Management. The 
discount rate used reflects the risks associated with each CGU.

In connection with the determination of the value in use of the operating segments, the Company considers that a 
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions used would not cause the carrying value of the operating segment 
to exceed its value in use.

           Grupo Famsa       Famsa México        Famsa, Inc

Volume of sales and interest
( % annual growth)     7.0%     4.2%   1.1%
Gross Margin (% of income)  18.0%   30.1%               49.6%
Long-term growth rate     3.3%     3.3%   2.7%
Discount rate before taxes     5.5%     5.5%   5.5%
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Note 14 - Other assets 

Nota 15 - Demand and time deposits 

As of December 31, the Company’s deposits with third parties were comprised as follows:

According to the terms negotiated, the fund raising is presented as follows at December 31:

2016 2015

Prepaid advertising $228,555 152,184

Prepaid insurance 73,799 59,164

Other prepayments 159,551 116,256

Other deferred charges.- BAF capitalizable projects 220,368 148,435

Origination costs and other assets   311,708  192,317 

Total $993,981 668,356

2016 2015

Demand deposits:

   Savings deposits (interest bearing) $ 4,827,737 4,749,022

   Checking accounts (non-interest bearing) 771,823 537,069

Time-deposits:

   From the general public 15,463,346 13,072,738 

      Total demand deposits and time deposits 21,062,906 18,358,829

2016 2015

Short-term deposits $17,274,090 14,478,945

Long-term deposits 3,788,816 3,879,884 

   Total short and long term deposits 21,062,906 18,358,829 
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Time deposits consist mainly of Invercedes, which are certificates of deposit related to a checking and promissory note. 
The terms of these deposits are analyzed below as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Depending on the type of instrument and average balance in the investments, these liabilities bear interest at the 
variable average rates indicated below:

The funding rate used by the Bank as a reference for national currency is the banking rate published by Banxico.

Note 16 - Short-term and long-term debt

Total debt at December 31, 2016 and 2015 is comprised as follows:

December, 31

Grupo Famsa: 2016 2015 Interest
rate (*)

Local Currency:

Financial Factoring: (1)

   Financiera Bajío, S. A. SOFOM, ER $142,596 149,910 9.54% (b)

   BBVA Bancomer, S. A 106,793 72,867 8.81% (b)

   Arrendadora y Factor Banorte, S. A. de C. V.    
   SOFOM, ER

349,882 307,736 8.21% (b)

   Banco Monex, S. A. 214,831 149,898 9.56% (b) 

$814,102 680,411

2016 2015

Term Invercedes
   Promissory

   notes
       
  Total Invercedes 

Promissory
 Notes

 
       Total

From 1 to 179 days       $1,380,005 3,258,679    4,638,684          - 3,920,848 3,920,848

From 6 to 12 
months 7,001,527 34,319

  
 7,035,846 5,241,251 30,755 5,272,006

From 1 to 2 years 3,788,816    -    3,788,816 3,879,884 - 3,879,884

$12,170,348 3,292,998   15,463,346 9,121,135 3,951,603 13,072,738

2016 2015

Demand deposits   2.45% 2.66%

Time-deposits   5.47% 4.91%
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Provision of credit lines contracted
in the short term:

   Banorte, S. A. 200,000 250,000 8.45% a), c)

   BBVA Bancomer, S. A. 210,000 170,000 7.95% a), c)

   Banco Monex, S. A. 35,000 100,000 9.60% b)

   Banco Actinver, S. A 175,000 50,000 8.85% b), c), d)

   Banco Multiva, S.A. 6,000 6,000 8.36% b), c)

   Banco del Bajío, S. A. 
(2)

100,000            - 10.08% b), c)

   Intercam Banco, S.A. 
(2)

150,000            - 8.57% b)

Provisions of credit lines, contracted

in long term:

   Banco Multiva, S.A. 588,000 594,000 8.36% b), c)

   Banco Inmobiliario Mexicano, S.A. 
(2)

200,000            - 9.07% b), c), d)

Issuance of debt certificates:

   Shor term 
(3)

  1,965,798    2,071,316 8.86% b)

3,629,798 3,241,316

Dollars:

Issuance of stock market debt abroad:

Senior Notes 2020 
(6)

5,100,577 4,241,194 7.25% a), c)

Bussines Europapel (4)
                   -   569,207 7.00% a), c)

  5,100,577 4,810,401 

Famsa USA:

Dollars:

   Business Property Lending, Inc. 86,079 75,339 3.33% a), d)

   Capital One, National Association 205,163 155,238 5.00% b), c)

   Deutsche Bank AG 
(5)

  164,955   137,990 2.50% a)

  456,197   368,567 

Total debt 10,000,674 9,100,695

Short term maturity  (4,026,018)   (4,190,162)

   Long term debt $5,974,656 4,910,533

                 December, 31

Grupo Famsa:                      2016       2015 Interest
rate (*)
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the fair value of short-term debt approximates their accounting value. Additionally, 
the interest rate is similar to the effective rate given its short-term maturity. The fair value of long-term debt is disclosed 
in the following paragraphs.

*  Nominal rates (a) fixed and (b) variable, as of December 31, 2016. Interest is accrued monthly. Except for the Senior 
notes 2020 whose interest is accrued on a monthly basis; however, its interest payment is semi-annual during the 
months of May and November of each year. (c) Debts with guarantors and (d) debts with mortgage guarantees.

(1)  The Company entered into factoring credit line contracts with suppliers. Interest is calculated applying to the 
discounted amount, the rates that financial institutions apply for this type of operations, according to the discount 
period. These liabilities are settled in an average period of 93 days. The relevant characteristics of each factoring credit 
line are presented below:

(2)  During 2016, credits line were opened with Banco del Bajio, Banco Intercam and Banco Inmobiliario Mexicano, for 
a total amount of $450 million.  Funds of these credits were used to pay prior debts.

(3 ) During 2016, the Company issued approximately $2,380 million pesos in debt certificates, which were used mainly 
for the renewal of debt certificates maturities during the year for an amount of approx. $2,486 million pesos.

As of December 31, 2016 the fair value of short-term and long-term debt certificates was $1,971,656. The valuation 
method used is classified in Level 1, since the fair value of financial instruments are traded in an active market.

(4)  On January 28, 2015, the Company issued notes for US$33 million at a rate of 7.0% maturing on January 28, 2016, 
from a commercial euro paper program established in 2009 for a total of US$120 million. The net proceeds were 
amortized on January 28, 2016. 

(5)  On October 16, 2015, the Company renewed its credit line for a maximum amount of EUR$6.6 million or its equivalent 
in US dollars. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had drawn down a total of US$8 million; this borrowing bears 
interest at an annual rate of 2.50% maturing on January, 19, 2017 (see note 28, subsequent events). Due to its short 
maturity, its fair value approximates its book value.

Financial Institution

Renewal date
of the

credit line
    Credit
     limit

Interest
rate (*)

Financiera Bajío, S. A. SOFOM, ER May, 2016 $ 142,750 TIIE+ 4.0

BBVA Bancomer, S. A July, 2016    130,000 TIIE+2.8

Arrendadora y Factor Banorte, S. A. de
C. V. SOFOM, ER July, 2015    350,000 TIIE+2.5

Banco Monex, S. A July, 2016    215,000 TIIE+4.0
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(6)  On May 31, 2013 Grupo Famsa issued (“Senior Notes”) for US$250 million under rule 144A / Reg. S, in the 
foreign market, at a rate of 7.25%, net of taxes, maturing on May 31, 2020. The bonds are guaranteed by the 
retail and transformer trading companies and others, which are, Impulsora Promobien, S.A, de C.V., Famsa Inc., 
Famsa Financial, Inc., Auto Gran Credito Famsa, S.A. de C.V., Expormuebles, S.A. de C.V., Mayoramsa, S.A. de C.V., 
Verochi, S.A. de C.V., Geografía Patrimonial, S.A. de C.V. and Famsa México, S.A. de C.V. The bonds were rated “B” 
by Standard & Poors and “B +” by Fitch Ratings and can’t be offered or sold in the US.

As of December 31, 2016, the fair value of the senior notes was $4,191,202. The method of variation used is 
classified in Level 1, since the fair value of financial instruments in active markets is based on market prices quoted 
at the closing date of the consolidated statement of financial position. A market is considered active if quoted prices 
are clearly and regularly available from a stock exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory 
agency, and those prices represent actual and regular market transactions at arm’s length conditions. The trading 
price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price.

This senior contract, has an unsettled balance as of December 31, 2016 of $5,154,850 pesos, of approximately 
$54,273 pesos, for expenses of contracting this credit, which will be amortized by the effective interest method 
during the life of the same. This presentation in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is performed to 
comply with the current IFRS.

The existing credits establish certain obligations which include: the establishment of limits for the leverage, limitation 
for incurring additional indebtedness, except that allowed, can’t be merged, liquidate or dissolve the assets, make 
changes to its accounting policies or reporting practices, except as required in the applicable IFRS and to submit 
quarterly statements together with a certificate of compliance signed by a Company officer.

The maturities of the long-term debt are detailed as follows:

2018    $291,392
2019             91,392
2020    5,278,048
2021 onward      313,824  
                             $5,974,656
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Note 17 - Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses comprised the following:

(1) Includes liabilities for accrued expenses for labor taxes and other.
(2)  Liability for expenses for water service, electricity, telephone, fuel, maintenance and other.
(3) Liability for accrued interest on bank debt and debt certificates.
(4)  Includes liabilities for accrued salaries payable, commission to sales personnel, savings fund, medical expenses and 
other.
(5)  Includes self-financing contributions from customers, vehicle insurance and other.

Note 18 - Related parties 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 the Company had accounts receivables from affiliates for $641,872 and $818,298 
(See note 10), respectively. These accounts receivable have arisen mainly due to funding and management of financial 
resources (revolving loans). 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company entered into the following transactions with affiliated 
parties:

     2016               2015

Payroll taxes(1)
$175,054 166,216

Liabilities for operative expenses(2)
379,080 286,248

IT and VAT withholdings 205,376 128,425

Interest payable(3) 58,822 62,935

Wages(4)
13,667 18,903

Value added tax payable, net 54,605                 -

Customer advances.- Installments 80,321 75,396

Fundraising.- AGCF savers 73,732 46,495
Other creditors (5)

  197,869   368,099 

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $1,238,526 1,152,717

2016 2015

Rent and administrative expenses (Note 21)          $189,860 184,161
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The above expenses were carried out with different affiliates of the group, for example, with Desarrollos Inmobiliarios 
Garza Valdez, S.A. De C.V., Inmobiliaria Garza Valdez de la Laguna, S.A. De C.V., Inmobiliaria Logar de Monterrey, 
S.A. de C.V., among others.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, salaries and benefits received by the principal executive officers of 
the Company amounted to $108,791 ($99,900 in 2015), consisting of base salary amounts and legal benefits, 
complemented by a variable compensation program that is basically driven by the Company’s results.

The Company and its subsidiaries declare that they did not have significant transactions with related persons or 
conflicts of interest to disclose except as mentioned in Note 1.b.

During 2015, a reimbursement for leasehold improvements was received by $570,504 from related parties.

 
Nota 19 - Employee benefits 

The amount of employee benefit obligations as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 added up $119,123 and $122,135 
respectively, and is shown below: 

The net period cost for the year ended December 31 is shown below:

   2016  2015

Pension plans    $ 7,407  10,235

Seniority premium     64,797 66,095

Other employee benefits     46,919  45,805

$ 119,123 122,135

   2016 2015

Pension plans    $1,064     966

Seniority premium   15,819 13,176

Other employee benefits      6,803  5,790 

 $23,686 19,932
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Pension plans

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position is comprised as follows:

The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows: 

The economical assumptions in nominal and real terms used were:

The net period cost is comprised as follows: 

2016 2015

Defined benefit obligations and total liabilities in the consolidated

statement of financial position           $7,407 10,235

2016 2015

Opening balance at January 1st 10,235 8,217

Labor cost 465 456

Finance cost, net 599 510

Actuarial (gains) losses (3,892) 1,052

   Ending balance at December 31 $7,407 10,235

2016 2015

Discount rate  7.75% 6.75%

Salary increase rate  4.00% 4.00%

     2016 2015

Service costs of the year       465 456

Finance cost, net       599 510

Net period cost $1,064 966
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In the event of a hypothetical increase or decrease in the discount rate of 0.25% from that estimated by Management, 
the carrying amount of labor obligations would increase by $75 and decrease by $74, respectively.

In the event of a hypothetical increase or decrease in the salary increase rate of 0.25% from that estimated by 
Management, the carrying amount of labor obligations would decrease by $289 and increase by $298, respectively.

Seniority premium

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position is comprised as follows:

The movement in the defined benefit obligation was as follows:

The economic assumptions used in nominal and real terms used were as follows:

The net period cost is analyzed as follows: 

2016 2015

Defined benefit obligations and total liabilities in the consolidated

statement of financial position          $ 64,797 66,095

2016 2015

Opening balance at January 1st $ 66,095 59,167

Labor cost 11,749 9,666

Finance cost, net 4,070 3,510

Actuarial gains (8,680) (2,350)

Benefits paid (8,437) (4,120)

Transition liability   - 222

Ending balance at December 31 $ 64,797 66,095

2016 2015

Discount rate 7.75% 6.75%

Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00%

2016 2015

Service cost of the year $11,749  9,666

Finance cost, net      4,070  3,510 

Net period cost $15,819 13,176
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In the event of a hypothetical increase or decrease in the discount rate of 0.25% from that estimated by Management, 
the carrying amount of labor obligations would decrease by $831 and increase by $807, respectively.

Other employee benefits

The amount recognized as liability in the consolidated statements of financial position is comprised as follows:

The movement in the defined benefit obligation was as follows: 

The economical assumptions used, in nominal and real terms, were as follows:

The net period cost is analyzed as follows:

  2016 2015

Defined benefit obligations and total liabilities in the statement of

financial position             $ 46,919   45,805

2016 2015

At January 1 $45,805 39,538

Labor cost 3,748 3,239

Finance cost, net 3,055 2,551

Actuarial (gains) losses (7,769) 356

Transition liability                            - 381

Benefits paid (1,903) (260)

Others 3,983           - 

 $46,919 45,805

2016 2015

Discount rate 7.75% 6.75%

Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00%

2016 2015

Service costs of the year $3,748 3,239

Finance cost, net   3,055  2,551 

Net period cost $6,803 5,790
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In the event of a hypothetical increase or decrease in the discount rate of 0.25% from that estimated by Management, 
the carrying amount of labor obligations would increase by $1,208 and decrease by $1,161 respectively.

Nota 20 - Stockholders’ equity 

In the Ordinary General Annual Meeting held on April 19, 2016, the stockholders agreed that the fund created 
for the purchase and sale of the Company’s own shares will be up to a maximum amount of $300 million. As of 
December 31, 2016, the Company had 7,913,664 shares (7,794,864 shares in 2015) held in treasury and the market 
value per share at that date was $6.33 Mexican pesos ($14.02 in 2015).

During 2016, 7,655,169 ordinary shares of Series “A” were repurchased in the amount of $77,942 and the sale of 
7,536,369 common shares of series “A” for a value of $76,194.

In 2015, a credit to retained earnings of $3,173,433 was recorded as a contribution to the Company’s equity, net of 
deferred income tax of $1,360,042. See Note 1.b.

As of December 31, 2016 the capital stock is comprised as follows: 

The number of shares in the previous table is in unit values.

As of December 31, 2016 the retained earnings included $368,852 and $737,706, related to the legal reserve and 
to the reinvestment reserve, respectively. The movements of these reserves were as follows:

 

                                       Number of
Description                                           shares                            Amount

Fixed capital (mínimum): Series “A”, Class “I”, common
nominative shares, without par value 330,097,385  $ 660,195
Variable capital: Series “A”, Class “II”, common
nominative shares, without par value 231,871,727    463,743 
Accumulated inflation increase as of December 31, 1997         -    579,909  

Paid capital stock 561,969,112     $1,703,847

Legal reserve Reinvestment
reserve

Balances as of January 1, 2015

Reserve 2015

Increases

Balances as of December 31, 2015

Reserve 2016

Increases

Balances as of December 31,2016

$335,661

 18,095

                    353,756

 15,096 

$ 368,852

671,324

  36,190

707,514

 30,192

737,706
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Stockholder contributions restated as provided for by the tax law, aggregating $9,370,021, may be refunded to 
stockholders tax-free, to the extent that such contributions equal or exceed stockholders’ equity.

Note 21 - Costs and expenses by nature 

Cost of sales and administrative and expenses are comprised as follows:

(1) Includes mainly insurance, travel and training expenses.

The salaries and employee benefits are comprised as follows:

               2016    2015

Cost of goods sold           $7,132,351  6,541,279

Remuneration and benefits to staff  3,355,440  3,094,867

Allowonce for doubtful accounts  1,692,509  1,689,702

Leases (note 26) 997,713 905,873

Interest expense on bank deposits 844,184 685,063

Depreciation and amortization 416,933 545,551

Electricity, water and telephone 240,669 250,488

Advertising 272,075 292,350

Maintenance 267,575 228,287

Freight 55,351 50,853

Fees to companies and individuals 398,690 377,409

Fuels and lubricants 118,438 135,872

Lease of machinery and equipment 100,403 51,401
Others (1)

  882,669    679,825  

     $16,775,000        15,528,820

2016  2015

Salaries and bonus $2,251,700 2,257,077

Comissions to sale’s personnel       370,008    178,014

Empoyee benefits         75,472      53,374

Payroll contributions       485,656    437,410

Pantry      105,431    108,193

Payroll tax        67,173      60,799 

$3,355,440 3,094,867
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Nota 22 - Other income, net

Nota 23 - Financial expenses and income

Financial expenses and income are comprised as follows:

2016 2015

Other Income:

Income from sale of fixed assets $22,131 53,446

Revenue from loss recovery 9,330 17,371

Administrative services 9,549 7,165

Reimbursement of expenses, leased hold improvements            - 570,504

Impaired accounts receivable recoverys 30,272 36,643

Others 156,714  26,685 

   Total other Income $227,996  711,814 

Other expenses :

Expenses incurred in the operation of the United States        $ - (73,394)

Current ESPS (2,315) (6,130)

Others  (162)  (621) 

   Total other expenses  (2,477)  (80,145) 

   Other income - net $225,519 631,669

Financial expenses:

2016 2015

Interest expense on bank loans $ (357,750) (213,267)

Interest expense on debt certificates (512,631) (497,931)

Factoring (54,585) (43,287)

Other financing expenses (1,836) (362)

Foreign exchange loss, net  (547,690)  (461,798) 

$ (1,474,492) (1,216,645)

Financial income:

Financial income $ 7,711 3,995

Present value of collection rights  371,906         - 

$ 379,617 3,995
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Note 24 - Income tax expense 

IT Law effective as of January 1, 2014 imposes an IT rate of 30% for 2014 and thereafter.

Grupo Famsa and each of its subsidiaries determine and individually pay their taxes. The tax result differs from the 
accounting result due to the temporary differences arising from the comparison of the accounting balances and the 
fiscal values of each of the assets and liabilities accounts of the consolidated statement of financial position, as well as 
those items that only affect the accounting or tax result.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company has not recognized deferred income tax on temporary differences arising 
between the book value and the tax value of the investments in subsidiary companies, since the Company has the 
ability to control the date of reversal of such temporary differences and it is probable that they will not be reversed in 
the near future.

Income taxes is comprised as follows:

The deferred income tax asset is comprised as follows:

    2016 2015

Current taxes $ (40,850) (75,824)

Deferred taxes  487,551  313,268 

$ 446,701 237,444

2016 2015
Restated

Income tax deferred assets:

Tax loss carryforwards $2,227,224 1,920,072

Allowance for doubtful accounts   1,081,059 1,018,534

Account receivable deferred for tax purposes     607,930    281,646

Property, leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment     201,385    200,954

Employee benefits      26,574     29,610

Other accruals       18,977     15,874

Other assets         5,950       5,526 

$4,169,099 3,472,216
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The Company has tax forecasts which support the future taxable profit against current tax losses will be applied and 
also the tax losses which would arise from the reversal of deductible temporary differences.

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, is shown below:

Deferred assets as of December 31, 2016 are comprised of $801,166 raised in Mexican legal entities and $893,874 
raised in legal entities in the United States.

 

As of December 2014
Charge (credit) to the states
of results

   $1,651,599

        135,573

   537,198

     15,003

  183,800

 (104,516)

  15,076

  14,534

   199,458

  82,188

-

-

     (108,846)

      123,538

  (187,118)

     46,984

   2,291,167

     313,268

Adjustment to retained
earnings 132,900 248,048 - - -              (1,360,042) (885,293) - (1,864,387)
Reclassifications - - 121,670 - - - - (121,670) -
Other items of the comprensive
income - - - - - - - 405 405
Foreign currency
translation of sales - - - - - - - 102,710 102,710 

As of December 2015
(Previously reported) 1,920,072 800,249 200,954 29,610            281,646        (1,360,042) (870,601) (158,725) 843,163 

Adjustment to retained
earnings - 218,285 - - - - - - 218,285
As of December 2015
Restated $1,920,072 1,018,534 200,954 29,610           281,646        (1,360,042) (870,601) (158,725) 1,061,448
Charge (credit) to the 
statement of income 307,152 62,525 431 (3,036)            326,284 (111,572) 193,084 (287,317) 487,551
Foreign currency
translation effects
 - - - - - - -                146,041   146,041 

As of December 31, 2016 $2,227,224 1,081,059 201,385 26,574          (607,930)        (1,471,614) 677,517        (300,001) 1,695,040
 

2015 2016

Income tax deferred liabilities:

Revenue to be accumulated - collection rights $1,471,614 1,360,042

Revenue - other income to be accumulated      677,517    870,601

Prepayments     263,337   136,399

Other liabilities       61,591     43,726 

2,474,059 2,410,768

   Total deferred income tax assets, net $1,695,040 1,061,448

Revenue 
to be 

accumulated 
(Collection 

Rights) 

Revenue 
to be 

accumulated 
(otherincome)

Tax loss
carryforwards

Allowance
for doubtful 
receivables

Property,
leasehold
improve-
ments, 

furniture 
and equip-

ment
Employee 
benefits

Accounts 
receivable 
deferred
for tax 

purposes Other Total
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As of December 31, 2016, the loss carryforwards for which the Company recognized a deferred income tax asset, will 
expire as shown below:

In addition, the Company has tax loss carry forwards for an amount of $3,450,870, which are considered not to be 
realized in accordance to financial forecasts performed by the Company. 

To determine the deferred income tax as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company applied to the temporary 
differences the applicable tax rates in accordance with their estimated reversal date. 

The reconciliation of the legal rate of income tax and the effective rate expressed as a percentage of the profit before 
income tax is:

 

Maturity
   Year    Tax Loss - Mexico

Tax loss - United 
States 

2017 $ 468                 -

2018 15,625 -

2019 11,596 -

2020 53,019 -

2021 81,475 -

2022 7,769 -

2023 1,721,659 -

2024 1,517,076 -

2025 683,680 -

2026 onward  907,846 2,138,706

$ 5,000,213 2,138,706

2016 2015

Nominal rate  (30%)  (30%)

Increase (reduction) resulting form:

Non-deductible expenses   72%    29%

Update tax loss carryforwards (62%) -

Effect of infation   49%    48%

Effect from the difference in foreign 
jurisdiction rates (Famsa Inc.)

  (7%) -

       Other     (465%)                          (316%)  

          Efective tax                                                                                               (443%)                                 (269%)
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The tax charge (credit) related to other items of other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, is 
as follows:

Nota 25 - Contingencies

a)  There is a contingent liability arising from employee benefits, which is mentioned in note 3.17.

b)  The Company is involved in a number of lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business. It is expected 
that the final outcome of these matters will not have significant adverse effects on the Company’s financial position 
and income (loss).

c)  In accordance with Mexican tax law, the tax authorities are empowered to examine transactions carried out during 
the five years prior to the most recent income tax return filed.

d)  In accordance with the IT Law, companies carrying out transactions with related parties are subject to certain 
requirements as to the determination of prices, which should be similar to those that would be used in arm’s-length 
transactions.

Should the tax authorities examine the transactions and reject the related-party prices, they could assess additional 
taxes plus the related inflation adjustment and interest, in addition to penalties of up to 100% of the omitted taxes.

e)  The tax authorities are conducting a direct examination of certain Company operations. At May 4, 2017, this 
examination is still in progress. The Company´s Management and their legal counsels do not anticipate this 
examination will result in significant additional costs.

2016 2015

Tax
charged

Tax
chargedBefore

tax
After
tax

Before
tax

After
tax

Foreign currency translation
effects $317,415 - 317,415 225,476   - 225,476

 
  Actuarial (gains) losses   29,059 (8,718)    20,341  1,351 (405) 946  

       $ 346,474 (8,718)    337,756   226,827 (405) 226,422
    

             $- (8,718)                     -                         -                      (405)                  -
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Nota 26 - Commitments

The majority of the subsidiary companies have entered into long-term leases facilities (some with related parties) 
covering properties by their stores. A description of the main agreements entered into with related parties is as follows:

As of December 31, 2016, the Company had 42 operating long-term leases facilities in place with the controlling 
shareholders and several entities controlled by them, with regard to the retail space used by several stores. The terms 
of all such agreements are substantially the same and are consistent with standard industry practices and real estate 
market prices.

The Company has entered into various asset management agreements with affiliates and other entities controlled by 
the principal shareholders, covering account collection services and the management and investment of the proceeds 
of such collections, in exchange for a commission payable on an annual basis.

Rents payable in subsequent years are shown below:

Total lease and administrative expenses, were during 2016 and 2015, as follows:

Related

Others Parties Total

2017 $ 910,590 137,008 1,047,598

2018 a 2022 4,552,952  685,041 5,237,993

2023 onwards 8,195,314  1,233,074  9,428,388 

$ 13,658,856 2,055,123 15,713,979

2016 2015

Other, different to related parties $ 867,229 795,452

Related parties    130,484  110,421

   Total $ 997,713 905,873
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Note 27 - Operating segments 

27.1 Operating segment information 

The Company manages and evaluates its continuing operations through three business segments: Mexico (national 
retail stores and financial sector), USA, (foreign retail stores) and other businesses in Mexico (wholesale, manufacturing 
of furniture and footwear, catalog business). These business segments are managed jointly because the products 
and the market in which they operate are similar. Its activities are carried out through its subsidiary companies.

The Company’s management uses financial information from statement of income by segment to evaluate 
development, make general operating decisions and assign resources.

The information by business segment to report is as follow:

      
   Mexico

      
    EUA      Others

2016

    
    Subtotal

Eliminations
between 

subsidiaries
    

Consolidated

Net sales (1) $9,325,860 1,421,215 639,717 11,386,792 (563,358) 10,823,434

Interest earned from clients  5,831,111  843,847  379,832 7,054,790  (334,495) 6,720,295 

Total revenues 15,156,971 2,265,062 1,019,549 18,441,582 (897,853) 17,543,729

Cost of sales (7,209,785) (931,585) (848,624) (8,989,994) 958,108 (8,031,886)

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (1,431,156)  (251,960) (9,393) (1,692,509)  -  (1,692,509)

Cost of sales      (8,640,941)    (1,183,545)  (858,017)     (10,682,503)  958,108  (9,724,395)

Gross profit 6,516,030 1,081,517 161,532 7,759,079 60,255 7,819,334

Operating expenses (2)
(5,538,515) (1,019,842) (141,940) (6,700,297) 66,625 (6,633,672)

Other income – Net  84,124  235,747 32,709 352,580  (127,061)  225,519 

Operating profit
before depreciation and 
amortization 1,061,639 297,422 52,301 1,411,362 (181) 1,411,181

Depreciation and 
amortization  (393,967) (17,803) (5,163) (416,933) -  (416,933)

Operation profit 667,672 297,619 47,138 994,429 (181) 994,248

Additional information to 
report:

Total Assets 40,296,286 4,578,902 619,185 45,494,373 (3,004,595) 42,489,778

Total liabilities 34,064,329 2,962,080 152,720 37,179,129 (3,004,595) 34,174,534

Investment in fixed assets 124,950 11,829 2,200 138,979 - 138,979

Adjusted EBITDA $1,905,823 297,422 52,301 2,255,546 (181) 2,255,465
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(1) Net sales realized in the respective countries shown above.
(2) Excluding depreciation and amortization.

27.2 Evaluation of operating performance

The Company evaluates operating performance based on a measure denominated “Adjusted EBITDA”, which consists 
of adding to the operating profit interest expense on bank deposits, depreciation and amortization. The Adjusted 
EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under IFRS and should not be considered as an alternative to net 
income as a measure of operating performance or cash flows as a measure of liquidity.

         Mexico      EUA Others

2015

  Subtotal Intersegment Consolidadated

Net Sales (1)
$ 9,671,202 1,450,212 673,504 11,794,918 (594,009) 11,200,909

Interest earned from clients  4,212,580 576,485 267,730  5,056,795  (236,129) 4,820,666 

  Total revenue 13,883,782 2,026,697 941,234 16,851,713 (830,138) 16,021,575

  Cost of sales (6,463,019) (918,865) (789,004) (8,170,888) 893,693 (7,277,195)

  Allowance for doubtful accounts      (1,461,496) (214,451) (13,755)       (1,689,702)  - (1,689,702)

  Cost of sales      (7,924,515)    (1,133,316) (802,759)       (9,860,590)  893,693 (8,966,897)

Gross profit 5,959,267 893,381 138,475 6,991,123 63,555 7,054,678

Operating cost (2)
(5,058,066) (888,703) (145,724) (6,092,493) 76,121 (6,016,372)

Other income – Net  741,599  (19,319) 49,202  771,482  (139,813)  631,669 

Operating profit before

Depreciation and amortization 1,642,800 (14,641) 41,593 1,670,112 (137) 1,669,975

Depreciation and amortization  (529,410)  (11,262) (4,879)   (545,551)           - (545,551)

Operation profit 1,113,390 (25,903) 37,074 1,124,561 (137) 1,124,424

Additional information to report:

Total Assets 36,502,479 4,216,516 538,689 41,257,684 (2,388,706) 38,868,978

Total liabilities 30,240,724 2,755,434 120,199 33,116,357 (2,388,706) 30,727,651

Investment in fixed assets 213,396 18,011 4,527 235,934 - 235,934

Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,327,863 (14,641) 41,593 2,355,175 (137) 2,355,038
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The reconciliation between Adjusted EBITDA and operating profit for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

Nota 28 - Subsequent events 

I. – Debt

a.  October 16, 2015, the Company renewed its credit line for a maximum amount of Euros $6.6 million or its 
equivalent in U.S. dollars. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had a total of US $8 million, this loan accrues 
interest at an annual rate of 2.50% and matured on January 19, 2017. On such date, the Company liquidated the 
interest corresponding to this loan and, additionally, renewed this same line of credit in the amount of U.S. $8 million.  
This loan accrues interest at a rate of 2.95% and matures on July 20, 2017.
 
b.  During 2017, the Company has liquidated several debt certificate programs, for approximately $852 million pesos.

In addition, during 2017, the Company has issued (allocated) different debt certificate programs, for an aggregate 
amount of approximately $607 million pesos, which has been used, mainly, in payments of previous programs as 
described in the previous paragraph.

c.  During 2017, and through the date of the report of the independent auditors, the Company has renegotiated 
loans with maturity in 2017 to be settled starting 2018. The amount of renegotiated loans amounts to $310 million

II. - Collection Rights

d.  During 2017 and in a period of time ranging from January 5 to April 4, 2017, the Company has collected 
approximately $660 million pesos related to the collection rights with related parties that are disclosed in note 1.b.

e.  On April 20, 2017, the main shareholder of Grupo FAMSA, S.A.B. De C.V., as well as Desarrollos Inmobiliarios 
Garza Valdez S.A. de C.V., Inmobiliaria Garza Valdez S.A. de C.V. , Inmobiliaria Garza Valdez de la Laguna S.A. de 
C.V. , Inmobiliaria Logar S.A. de C.V. were established as trustees in favor of Famsa Mexico S.A. de C.V. as trustee in 
the first place, an irrevocable trust of guarantee and payment.

The fiduciary institution that appeared before this trust as fiduciary was Banco del Bajio S.A, Institucion de Banca 
Multiple.

   2016 2015

Operating profit $ 994,248 1,124,424

Interest expense on bank deposits 844,184 685,063

Depreciation and amortization  416,933  545,551

   Adjusted EBITDA $2 ,255,365 2,355,038
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For the constitution of this trust, the guarantors of the collection rights initially contributed 20 properties located in 
different parts of the country, as well as income from leases that arise from some of these leased properties.

The purposes of this trust are to ensure full compliance with the collection rights mentioned in note 1.b.

Among some of the purposes of the trust is to be able to receive new contributions of real estate or cash, sell or 
guarantee own obligations or those of third parties with assets from the property under the condition or limitation 
that the resources obtained from these operations to be carried out shall be for the exclusive benefit of payment to 
the secured obligations as mentioned in the aforementioned legal instrument.

III. - Other relevant events

f.  On January 26, 2017, Grupo FAMSA, S.A.B. of C.V. stated that during 2017 will not open new branches in Mexico 
or the United States of America.
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Grupo Famsa, S.A.B. de C.V.’s annual reports and other 
written materials may occasionally containforward-
looking statements and disclosures, projected fi 
nancial results and expectations forGrupo Famsa 
and its subsidiaries’ future performance which should 
be considered as estimatesmade in good faith by 
Company Management. Investors are cautioned that, 
although based onpublicly available information, any 
such forward-looking statements and disclosures are 
subjectto inherent risks and uncertainties, as well as to 
factors that could cause the Company’s results,plans, 
objectives, expectations, performance and 
achievements to be totally different at any giventime. 
Such risks and uncertainties include changes in general 
economic, political, government and/or commercial 
conditions on a national and/or global level, as well as 
changes in interest rates,infl ation, foreign exchange 
volatility, product prices, customer demand and 
competition, amongothers. All disclosures made by 
Grupo Famsa should be assessed taking into account 
theserelevant risks and uncertainties. As a result of 
these risks and uncertainties (as well as those thatGrupo 
Famsa doesn’t acknowledge or currently considers 
of low relevance), real results may differsubstantially 
from the forward-looking statements and disclosures 
presented in this document.Grupo Famsa does not 
assume any responsibility related to variations that 
these forward-lookingstatements and disclosures may 
contain, nor for any other information coming from offi 
cial sourcesor third parties
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Disclosures and forward-looking statements solely 
show Grupo Famsa’s outlook as of the datethese 
disclosures and forward-looking statements are 
made. Grupo Famsa does not assume anyobligation 
to publicly disclose any updates or changes to such 
disclosures and information, even ifthose updates 
or changes are related to new information that was 
obtained, to future events or toany other circumstance.

From time to time additional factors that can affect the 
operations of Grupo FAMSA arise, and the company 
can not predict all of these factors or assess their 
impact on their activities, or the extent to which a 
particular factor or set of factors may cause that real 
results substantially differ from those expressed in the 
statements regarding the future. Even when Grupp 
FAMSA considers that the plans, intentions and 
expectations reflected in the statements regarding 
to the future are reasonable, can not guarantee that 
will accomplish them. In addition, investors should 
not read into the declarations relating to trends or 
activities as a guarantee that such trends or activities 
will continue to future. All forward-looking statements, 
in verbal and electronic format, attributable to Grupo 
FAMSA, its subsidiaries or their representatives are 
expressly subject to this warning.
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